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>>Committee commenced at 8:58

Chairman (Mr. Hickes): Good morning,
everybody. I would like to call the meeting
of the Standing Committee on Oversight of
Government Operations and Public
Accounts’ televised hearing on the 2023
Report of the Auditor General to the
Legislative Assembly on Family Services in
Nunavut.

I would first like to ask Ms. Killiktee if she
could lead us in prayer, please.

>>Prayer

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Killiktee. I
would like to start off the proceedings with
an opening comment from the Chair.

I am pleased to begin by welcoming
everyone to this meeting of the Legislative
Assembly’s Standing Committee on
Oversight of Government Operations and
Public Accounts.

We have convened today to begin the
Standing Committee’s televised hearing on
the 2023 Report of the Auditor General of
Canada to the Legislative Assembly of
Nunavut: Child and Family Services in
Nunavut. This is the first of three
appearances taking place this week by the
Office of the Auditor General.
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On behalf of the Standing Committee, I am
pleased to formally welcome officials from
the Office of the Auditor General of Canada
to Iqaluit. I am also pleased to introduce my
Standing Committee colleagues. I have:

e Alex Sammurtok, Co-Chair of the
Standing Committee and Member for
Rankin Inlet North-Chesterfield Inlet;

e Janet Brewster, Member for Iqaluit-
Sinaa;

e Joelie Kaernerk, Member for Amittuq;

e Mary Killiktee, Member for Ugqummiut;

Adam Arreak Lightstone, Member for

Iqaluit-Manirajak;

Solomon Malliki, Member for Aivilik;

Karen Nutarak, Member for Tununigq;

Daniel Qavvik, Member for Hudson Bay;

Joseph Quqqgiaq, Member for Netsilik

Joe Savikataaq, Member for Arviat

South; and

e (Craig Simailak, Member for Baker Lake.

Committee Members, the Auditor General’s
2023 Report on Child and Family Services
was tabled in the House on May 30 earlier
this year. This report follows two previous
reports by the office on the same subject, one
in 2011 and one in 2014.

I wish to note for the record that my
colleagues representing Arviat South and
Rankin Inlet North-Chesterfield Inlet also
served with me on the Standing Committee
that held a televised hearing back in
September 2014 on the Auditor General’s
follow-up report to the Legislative Assembly
on child and family services in Nunavut.

Protecting the welfare of Nunavut’s children,
youth and their families is an important
responsibility of our government.
Recognizing that there are many challenges
to addressing issues relating to child welfare
and the safety and protection of children and
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youth across the territory, it is concerning
that after nearly a decade since the last audit
of child and family services in Nunavut, so
many of the critical issues identified with
respect to the programs and services required
to implement the Child and Family Services
Act are still not meeting the necessary
standards.

Officials from the departments of Family
Services, Health and Human Resources have
been invited to appear at this televised
hearing, which will provide an opportunity
for the Standing Committee to discuss the
issues identified by the Auditor General.

Following the Standing Committee’s
hearings, we will report our findings and
recommendations to the House. Under Rule
91(5) of the Rules of the Legislative
Assembly of Nunavut, the government is
required to table a formal written response to
reports of Standing Committees within 120
days of their presentation.

As I noted at the beginning of my opening
comments, the Standing Committee will be
holding hearings throughout this week on
reports of the Auditor General and related
matters. This will also provide an
opportunity for Members to discuss the
Office of the Auditor General’s upcoming
work, including next year’s report to the
Legislative Assembly on the important topic
of public housing.

I would like to conclude by addressing some
housekeeping matters.

I ask all Members and witnesses to ensure
that their cellphones and other electronic
devices do not disrupt these proceedings. In
order to assist our interpreters and technical
staff, I ask that all Members and witnesses go
through the Chair before speaking.
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Members of the Standing Committee have
been provided with a number of documents
for their ease of reference during this
televised hearing. For the benefit of our
witnesses and interpreters, I ask Members to
be precise when quoting from or making
reference to specific documents.

This hearing is being televised live across
Nunavut on community cable stations and
the direct-to-home satellite services of both
the Bell and Shaw networks. It is also being
live-streamed on the Legislative Assembly’s
website. Transcripts of the televised hearing
will be posted on the Legislative Assembly’s
website at a later date.

I now invite the Deputy Auditor General to
make his opening statement and introduce his
team. Thank you.

Mr. Hayes: Ullaakkut/good morning. Mr.
Chairman, we are pleased to be here in
Iqaluit today to discuss our audit report on
child and family services in Nunavut, which
was tabled in the Legislative Assembly on
May 30 of this year. With me today are
James McKenzie, the principal responsible
for the audit, and Liliane Cotnoir, director.

We looked at whether the Department of
Family Services and the Department of
Health, with the support of the Department of
Human Resources, provided services to
protect and support the well-being of
vulnerable children and youth and their
families.

We found failures in all the areas we
examined, starting with the Department of
Family Services’ response to reports of
suspected harm to children. We reviewed 92
referrals and found that for 20 of them, the
department had not done the required
screening to assess the child’s risk and
circumstances. As for the remaining referrals,

LcbeDeNele Dsbn<s®edse/LdcL >
SOD>ANSIReb Db PNGE Y PN
OP<c > ®DC ASINY >Ro bNLo>Ya®
<AL DAoL LLC. AbNGAC 5NC DRADC
AL CoelPYta N NpDC

DNBRD>LEQ NENADE s, LebeD®eNcLe
Db/ LdcLc 5 AbYRPCD<
D>SbSdcGALY PY<o DSbsbeCsdy>Dr.

bNLM>SbC>RC bNLNGE_ o ANCHPLLLC
ArAbcc o NNGSYLIa® Abn<Pan NP
SH>ANIGENSHCCa<SLC Cd\Ned<

A aSb®NCNLb® N 5. Sb>ALSHCa<SLC o
DSbr<®%/L < DENE 5 L DseNC

QA A®INLHCdRP oo
NNG®ZLLM Ac*Lo® DSbcLSL*LC, PR B¢
D>sb>YSbSL*LC, ac<®o® NNGSe/LI®
Negd<tseDsL~+LC.

>a acob®NNg®e CIe\>CC>NNLLE
0a2cll oact bA%Ldob CcANNJC <L
Q*PSGM Sb*LCC®NC>ILLPC allose
Ccdhceob CLbPab Ad“d®o <L Ledeo.
CAPNDECDNNTRECD® L D>oa><
SHGRDLYIC APPPAMLO. A *aSb®NCNT S
DSb>I>C Q SPECHC>ES[NC KopseC>_5Nb

L L DA< SbGaD>Lede APsePA Lo
>ANIPPbe o /S0 N T,

Lac D*=LANKG baCP>< CLLSe/LESo /SO,
LA NN Mg DSbDYSbSdeHd. sdyal™.

HAAS: D¢ bdl. ONANJc®eD%®) D¢ bdC,
AbPRPCSe, SIALA<S>UC ASb oGPt Dol
>abbPL HC oC%bo Aocnibdoc
Dobbe<dUc DL LA 30, <5GJryNe o
L LeDSALI®C>INS, Coa LA LR,
bLAC 5ICHC DI Sh>aL®eN< 5N, L
cc<d® d*.od, DPIANN,

SPrSPc_P>SdJC Aocnnbde <Ll >
GrodsbSa PO nAPd g AbNSeA®C> 5N
A®ba AL nAPd g ANCNGN S 5NC

N> GSTe <Ll > AbNSe /g

SboA* NS ONC ICCa ®IMCIC ApYab Ly
LbdDa® <Ly AcMUSC,




60 of them required an investigation because
of risks to a child. We found that half of the
investigations were not completed.

For children and youth placed in foster care
in the territory, the department did not have
evidence that essential screenings and check-
ins were done. In the case of 23 children,
youth, and young adults who were placed in
care outside the territory, we did not see
evidence that community social service
workers checked in monthly with these
vulnerable young people, as they were
required to do. These check-ins are important
to ensure their well-being and to confirm that
they are receiving the level of care they need.

We identified a number of persistent root
causes that were linked to the department’s
failure to protect Nunavut’s at-risk children
and youth. They include funding, the
inability to hire and retain permanent staff,
and a lack of housing, office space, and
timely training for community social service
workers.

These challenges were compounded by poor
information management practices. For
example, the Department of Family Services
did not have reliable data to answer the most
basic question of how many children and
youth it was responsible for. Having access
to reliable, accurate, up-to-date information
in a central system and training staff to use it
is essential for continuity of knowledge and
informed decision making.

For the past 12 years, the departments we
audited have all agreed with our
recommendations, but we have yet to see
vulnerable children receive the protection
they deserve. In fact, our three separate
reports since 2011 paint the picture of a
system that has failed the children and
families that it is meant to protect and
support. For this reason, we made the
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decision to not issue more recommendations
in this third report, as our previous
recommendations still stand.

This report is more than statistics, trends, and
a compilation of facts. In May, when this
report was released, the Auditor General
spoke of a system in crisis. While the
COVID-19 pandemic prompted a rapid
mobilization of resources to deliver a fast and
far-reaching response, the long-standing
crisis facing vulnerable children and families
in Nunavut has yet to result in a response
from the government equal to the acute
issues at hand.

Given the gravity of the situation, we felt an
obligation to use a different approach. This
included not issuing recommendations, but
also included sending letters to the Deputy
Minister to convey the deeply troubling
nature of our early findings. Similarly, when
the Auditor General released this report in
May, she called for a whole-of-government
approach to protect the territory’s vulnerable
children and youth. We asked the
Government of Nunavut to compel the three
departments, the Department of Family
Services, the Department of Health, and the
Department of Human Resources, to
collaboratively take urgent and necessary
concrete steps to help safeguard Nunavut’s
children and support the territory’s families
and communities.

In response to our findings, the Department
of Family Services is preparing an action
plan, which should include actions and
contributions by other departments from
across the Government of Nunavut. Our
office will monitor the implementation of
this plan and work with the government and
the Legislative Assembly on solutions that
will make a difference for vulnerable
children and youth.
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The issues we raised are long-standing and
systemic. We recognize that they find their
roots in socio-economic issues that are
broader than a single audit, but they still
require each of us to ask the question: what
needs to change for these children and their
families to receive the help and support they
need?

Mr. Chairman, this concludes my opening
statement. We would be happy to answer any
questions the committee may have.
Nakurmiik/thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Hayes. At this
time, I would like to invite the Government
of Nunavut’s opening statement. Mr.
Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
(interpretation) Good morning, Mr.
Chairman (interpretation ends) and Members
and Office of the Auditor General officials.

My name is Jonathan Ellsworth and I am the
Deputy Minister of the Department of Family
Services. I am here to present opening
comments to the Standing Committee on
Government Operations and Public Accounts
during the televised hearing on the 2023
Report of the Auditor General to the
Legislative Assembly on Child and Family
Services in Nunavut. 1 am joined today by the
recently appointed Associate Deputy
Minister of Family Services, Sandy Kownak,
also by my colleague, Executive and
Intergovernmental Affairs Deputy Minister
Mr. Jimi Onalik, Ms. Megan Hunt, Deputy
Minister of Health, Ms. Victoria Madsen,
Assistant Deputy Minister of Health, and Ms.
Kristie Cronin, Deputy Minister of Human
Resources.

I took on the role of Deputy Minister just
days before the Auditor General tabled the
performance audit on child and family
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services in Nunavut. The Hon. Margaret
Nakashuk, the Minister of Family Services,
and I fully accept the contents of the
performance audit. We clearly understand
that this is a crisis. We also fully accept the
findings of the two previous reports tabled by
the Auditor General in 2011 and 2014. We
are deeply committed to making the changes
that need to be made. Under our direction,
our officials are moving forward with a
roadmap that lays out a whole-of-government
approach. Our solutions and action plans
focus on safeguarding Nunavut’s children
and youth. Meaningful collaboration is key.
Work includes all levels of the department
and government; as well, it will require
community and Inuit stakeholders to engage
and, when necessary, the department will
take steps to shift priorities to respond to the
changing environment.

Over the last three months, the department
has made progress in addressing the Auditor
General’s findings. The department is
actively addressing capacity challenges. Our
focus is on bolstering operations, staff safety,
and information management to ensure
effective service delivery, while prioritizing
the safety and well-being of Nunavut’s
children and youth. I will briefly list some of
these initiatives for the record.

The department will be tabling a revised
budget in this House for consideration that
will seek to achieve additional human and
financial resources.

1. Strengthening Workforce Capacity

Our commitment to staff well-being is
evident through our commitment to provide a
dedicated counselling service for community
social services workers, a workplace violence
strategy, and an occupational health and
safety framework. A quality assurance
position and caseload analysis will further
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ensure that an appropriate work-life balance
is available while delivering effective
support.

2. Advancing Training and Professional
Development

Progressing toward enhanced service, our
comprehensive core training program with
Inuit cultural competence emphasis is
underway. Specialized training fund
agreements will secure multi-year funding
for training and professional development for
Mental Health First Aid, family resource
workers, managers, and supervisors and
foster care coordinators. Onboarding and
professional development opportunities for
social workers are being elevated, aligning
them with essential skills for best service.

3. Re-profiling Positions, Recruitment,
Retention and Facilities

Our immediate efforts include re-profiling
positions and reinforcing the family wellness
interprovincial desk functions. We are
facilitating the recruitment of community and
social services workers, with plans to fill 20
additional indeterminate positions by fall of
2023. Efforts are also underway to double fill
positions, meaning a new minimum of two
social workers in communities, to improve
service levels is in play, but recognizing that
it is contingent on available office space and
staff housing. We continue to work with the
housing corporation and the Department of
Community and Government Services to
ensure housing and office space are allocated
efficiently to address this priority. To date,
modular units have been allocated in four of
the highest need communities: Sanirajak,
Sanikiluaq, Kinngait, ammalu Pangnirtung.
The department has renewed agreements
with Arctic College to support the training of
social workers.
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I just have a technical issue, Sir. Please a
brief indulgence.

Thank you.

4. Information Management and
Technological Solutions

With respect to information management and
technological solutions, Mr. Chairman, we
have initiated the implementation of Matrix,
the Family Wellness Integrated Case
Management System software, and it marks a
significant step towards achieving records
standards. Projected for completion by fall of
2023, the initiative addresses
recommendations from the Auditor General’s
reports and establishes a case management
system. The electronic platform ensures
secure and confidential documentation of
client information, accessible to authorized
personnel across Nunavut, enabling effective
tracking and recording of case details,
referrals, screenings, investigations, service
plans, and other case notes by workers.

5. Quality Assurance

Mr. Chairman, our dedication to out-of-
territory clients is evident through the
resources we have applied to this desk. The
department’s immediate actions involve
assessing and assisting every out-of-territory
client with the aid of six full-time Inuit client
liaison officers in southern jurisdictions.
Collaborating with the Department of Human
Resources, we are re-profiling other positions
to better cater to the unique needs of these
clients.

The department is also modernizing the
Standards and Procedures Manual. This vital
update streamlines processes, aligns with
Inuit societal values, and ensures adherence
to legislated obligations. Emphasizing
increased accountability, the revision
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encompasses standards, procedures,
onboarding, and ongoing professional
development. A quality assurance process
will monitor program efficacy, with
evaluation to gauge responses to audits and
client needs and outcomes.

6. Communication Enhancement

Mr. Chairman, we have also engaged a
communication enhancement initiative.
Proactive strides in communication include
collaboration with a contract resource to
create a comprehensive communication
strategy. This strategy will develop
transparent internal and external
communication frameworks to assist in
keeping the public informed about our
progress. A communication needs
assessment prioritizes sharing our responses
to the Auditor General’s report, emphasizing
transparency and accountability. This
communication strategy is underway and is
intended to be finalized for implementation
in early winter of 2024.

In addition, the Child Welfare Partnership
Committee strengthens communication and
collaboration between the Government of
Nunavut, Nunavut Tunngavik Incorporated,
and regional Inuit organizations. The
committee facilitates dialogue on federal Bill
C-92, An Act respecting First Nations, Inuit
and Meétis children, youth and families.
Focusing on community level success, the
committee initiates collaborative work plans
and legislative revisions, including the Inuit
Custom Adoption Act and the Adoption Act.

The department has worked extremely hard
to bolster the relationship with the
Representative for Children and Youth. This
includes regular meetings with her office
through the lens of enhancing outcomes for
children and youth in Nunavut.
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7. Strategic Plan

Finally, Mr. Chairman, we are in the process
of developing a strategic plan. The strategic
plan is being developed to actively address
the gaps identified in the Auditor General’s
report. The strategic plan is being developed
in close collaboration with other
departments, including Inuit organizations
moving forward, and it will ensure a
meaningful and measurable outcome. The
plan will consolidate departmental actions
that have been required from the 2011, the
2014 and the most recent audit. It addresses
the Auditor General’s findings in each of
those situations and it lays out future steps
for action and change. The strategic plan will
address long-standing issues within the
department’s organizational structure. The
department has shared our commitment to
finalize the strategic plan with the Auditor
General, and we plan to collaborate and
continue collaborating with their officials as
we implement our response to this report.

I would like to emphasize the importance of
collaboration within our government and
with Inuit organizations to ensure the success
of these initiatives. As we move forward, we
will remain transparent in our
communication. I would also like to
acknowledge our frontline staff who work
tirelessly every day to serve Nunavut’s
children, youth, and families. They continue,
despite the challenges articulated within the
Office of the Auditor General’s report, to
push forward with dedication, and we are
striving to give them the resources and
support that they deserve.

Mr. Chairman, my colleagues and I are ready
and willing to address any questions or
concerns this Committee may have.
Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ellsworth. We
may have a slightly different version of your
opening comments. | know that we are
working with the Minister’s office to make
sure we get the updated version, but it is on
the record as well.

Just before I go to the Committee, I just have
a clarification on No. 6 here, your
Communication Enhancement in your
opening comments. You speak to the Inuit
Custom Adoption Act and the Adoption Act,
of looking at some revisions. I’'m assuming
that one of those revisions is the name of the
legislation because currently it’s under the
Aboriginal Custom Adoption Recognition
Act. Could I just get a clarification that
there’s a legislative proposal coming forward
for that, Mr. Ellsworth?

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Yes, Sir, [ apologize for the mistake on the
name of the legislation and that is the Act
that we will be coming forward with to
provide revisions. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you for that clarification.
I would just invite Committee Members if
they have any opening comments to the
opening comments. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
would like to thank everyone for being here
today.

I would also like to begin by recognizing the
significant role that our community social
workers play in our communities. The
challenging role of being a social worker is
likely one of the most challenging jobs in
Nunavut, especially in communities where
there is only one social worker, requiring
them to be on call 24 hours a day and also
requiring them to take on the entire caseload
of the community.
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I would also like to thank the Office of the
Auditor General of Canada for deciding to do
a third audit on child and family services in
Nunavut. I know it’s common to do follow-
up audits, but this is the first time I have ever
heard of a follow-up to a follow-up audit,
highlighting the severity of the situation. I
have also never seen an audit come with a
warning label that the content “may
negatively impact readers.” I would also like
to recognize the opening line, where the
OAG states that “This audit report describes
a crisis.”

Mr. Chairman and Members and those
listening, I have been calling on our
government to do more to protect the
vulnerable individuals, children, and youth in
Nunavut. Far too often, children are
victimized and we hear about it in the media
and know it’s going on. It has been
documented that Nunavut children
experience rates of abuse 10 times higher
than the national average, and I believe that
this 1s in fact a crisis.

In addition, there is a stigma surrounding
sexual abuse and victims often feel ashamed
and suffer in silence. We must speak about
this reality if we wish to see it end, which is
why I think it is so important that we’re
having these discussions here today, but
those discussions must go beyond this room.
Nunavut must start openly discussing it and
encouraging victims to come forward and
seeking assistance. I encourage our
community and every other community to
talk about the issues that must no longer go
unspoken.

I fear that not enough is being done to ensure
the safety of our children. I recognize that the
RCMP, our social workers, and health care
professionals are doing the best that they can
to assist, but they usually provide assistance
to children and youth after they become
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victims. I believe that more can and should
be done to prevent harm before it occurs. The
Government of Nunavut is struggling to put
out a fire when it should focus on sparks
before they become a flame.

Child abuse is an issue that | have raised
repeatedly since 2017, and again, the
government must do more to fulfill its
obligation to ensure the safety of all children
and youth through prevention, intervention,
and postvention. As I have stated in the past,
this can be done in a number of ways:
declaring the rate of child abuse and neglect
a crisis and devote necessary resources,
provide long-term counselling services for
children and victims as well as predators,
which is necessary to end the cycle, open
youth shelters for children and youth to find
safety when they are at risk, provide parents
and children with the knowledge they need to
protect themselves, create public awareness
initiatives to end the shame so victims feel
comfortable coming forward, implement
effective data tracking to identify current and
historic occurrences, and conduct voluntary
surveys to determine the true extent of past
violations.

Mr. Chairman, and those listening, our
discussions over the next two days will be
difficult and sensitive and may be triggering
for some listeners. Committee Members will
be asking some very tough questions. The
audit was very critical in the shortcomings
and failures of the Department of Family
Services and their inability to meet the
obligations as set out in Nunavut’s Child and
Family Services Act.

However, with that in mind, I would like to
assure everybody in appearance today and
those listening, that myself and the
committee truly appreciates the role that
everyone plays in protecting our vulnerable
children, such as our social workers, the
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RCMP, and our health care professionals.
Although we will be having some very
challenging questions and some critical
debate, I would just like to assure everyone
that the objective of this committee is to
ensure that the Government of Nunavut is on
the right track. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Lightstone. Well
said. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman
and thank you everyone for your opening
statements. I too, was struck by the opening
line that this audit describes the crisis. What
this audit does is it tells the story of the
system, and what is missing is the voices of
the children. I want to acknowledge the
Department of Family Services for the
progress that they have made to date. [ was
very happy to see some of the progress that
has been made.

I just want us all to take a moment to
acknowledge that though we are talking
about children in care today, the issue of the
‘60s Scoop of our children has been going on
for generations. In the past, the system was
not our own system, and we must consider
our own legacies as leaders and the impact
that the work that we do as public servants
and as legislators has on people for
generations.

I again would like to acknowledge those
families and individuals who are impacted by
foster care to say that as we are deliberating
today and seeking answers and solutions, that
you are first and foremost in our thoughts.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Brewster. Do
any other committee members have any
comments to the opening comments? Mr.
Kaernerk.

CALALLE PRUECHSe <ILON>SHC>MSJC
PY<do CALAPbOIS®eN S NedhJegseC o,
CALDS® bNLAGEC QL5 bNLAGE %Je seIC 7-
PLrLo APYRE®BLC opPe<c<Ida®
Cd<Le_sDJe,

Da JA®INNYLEOJ CHLSe/LISo>SeMbde
NNGSA*L® oS, Coa /D c®<® PabbiYeged
AL%a POAa®I T GALLS, JANSL NS
NNGSeC PATE AN 5P

D> 5N ®I o GeC>RY Sd*al™®, Ab/RPCSe,

AP/ RPCSd: C H]AN

HAAY ONMNJ9): SdY*al s<<,

CLLSe/LNSe/ DN Db PN~ Hd > Dobbe
NNG® Ha- N I>*C>NLN<o®

CdSbCCc P>®IJC aP>bdcL .

Sb>ALLALD>YIbo? SbD>AYLLEC LSPeo®
DotbcD>GoblLcSL Dobbic DI 5 CAPI
2014-T LD>*LCN<® NP5J ALACE ®>Jc /LC
D>_o%Dc >SLC. CAL LP>*LEN<H<AdoP
A2*UDAYL Mg {oPeIYLc DGEC. Accb
CALASG® dbP>*Nc>PNo® CISJC.
D>SbD>YSHGEC APPSaS LbdC Do

NS PC>/Ly N <o <L
bLP<CN*MedNedS P oAdaSo® CLea P/<o
Dbt 4D 5Jrn<bs Le. Sdyal®,
AbIRDCsb,

Ab/RPBCSe (ONANJO): Sdyal™. C c ASYD,

C ASYDe ONNNUO): Sdval™, AbYRPCS, L5
sdyeal™ PBLAC. C*aNA*a®
AASINNELN 5 0a 2€ LRLY® of

ASba AL®NPYD>L o SbD>ALEH*L Ca

> Honda oSt LOASY <Ng®

o D>NPSODTLSa®, JAMSLEONS Ad% *NC
b oAC*LCSTDC APAC LedD s AckAD
ASRNNPONE DoA™l a NaSbCHA?
sdytal®, Ab/PCS,

Ab/PCSe (OLNANJO): Sdyal™®. MC ADSDC,
ADSADC (ONANUO): Sdy>al™, AbY/RPCSb,

Q*PSbNNPLRNC Ced«l Pobbt <L Lea
AI%C2C, A, D> HA<a Il DS

17



Mr. Kaernerk (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. A warm welcome to you
firstly, along with your officials. It goes
without saying that we face crises on many
fronts, in reading the contents of Auditor
General’s report. The findings identify our
territory as being in a crisis as there is even a
warning label attached to the report.

It has been mentioned on occasion that our
children and youth form the basis of our
future, and we need to build a solid
foundation for them. Personally, in looking at
this issue, since the time I was first elected
back in 2017, our elders along with our
unique culture in Canada, and with our
communities receiving only temporary
services via air travel.

This means, that the Department of Family
Services who shall be looking into this
matter, indeed, on how we can create
employment opportunities, as well as
housing for our communities continues to be
a challenge, as it has a tangible effect
especially in smaller communities who have
no options to turn to when they require
counselling.

Many people no longer know who to turn to,
and this impacts the communities where Inuit
are getting employment opportunities
throughout Nunavut, but our elders” who
already possess this knowledge, wisdom and
life experience are slighted and need to be
carefully analyzed as a potential resource,
especially by the Family Services and Health
departments.

Here is my reasoning, our elders traditionally
served as the educational foundation for our
children, preparing them for their future roles
in society, and this ability was retained. The
legal barriers come from the legislation
enacted by this legislature, even with these
truths already well known. How can we
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incorporate into existing social and life skill
training processes, the accumulated
knowledge of our elders and to have that
knowledge fully accepted and
acknowledged?

We have to look at the whole system of
service provision holistically via the
principles of Pijittirarniq and Inuugatigiinniq
currently being lip serviced by our own
government. Lip service is the worst kind of
disrespect constantly undertaken by
bureaucracies, and in my estimation, we have
to return to the actual practice of
incorporating our elders.

Either that or including people with actual
life experiences and knowledge about life
counselling skills who can be hired into
positions, and we need to turn to this existing
resource. Our elders form a large part of our
cultural traditions, and it hurts to see them
ignored by the loss of inclusion.

We have seen numerous reports from the
governments and different bodies, and
especially on reforming the social worker
role at the community level to ensure fuller
participation in local events. The shortage of
housing is very visible here, and possibly we
have to be more community-based if we’re
going to take the proper going forward.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for giving me the
opportunity.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Kaernerk. Any
other committee members have comments?
I’m just going to explain a little bit of how
we’re going to proceed with this. As the
report is listed in paragraphs and pages, I'm
going to name certain paragraph parameters
that we’re going to address in our lines of
questioning to keep some structure so we’re
not all over the place for our officials, and
just for the committee members to be able to
keep track through the report.
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I’'m going to start off with “At a Glance.” It
is the third page within the report from the
Office of the Auditor General, and the first
name [ have on my list: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
As I had mentioned in my opening
comments, this is the first I have ever seen of
a follow-up to a follow-up audit. I guess my
first question will be to the Office of the
Auditor General. I would like to ask: what
specific reasons or circumstances prompted
your office to conduct a third audit on
Nunavut’s Child and Family Services since
2011? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Lightstone. Mr.
Hayes.

Mr. Hayes: Thank you very much for the
question. The significance of this subject
matter can’t be understated. We’re talking
about the children and youth of the territory,
we’re talking about the community social
service workers who support them, we’re
talking about the families that need support,
and we’re talking about the communities that
deserve support and we need to help out.

We did two audits starting 12 years ago, and
another one 10 years ago, and the findings
were not good in those audits. In the middle
years, we had other topics that we wanted to
look at, and we had a limited ability to do
follow ups, but this was always going to be
on the radar given the importance of the
subject matter. We know that the
Representative for Children and Youth had
been monitoring some of the work that had
been done by the department, so we were
keeping tabs on that, but we had a plan to
come back and look at this.

It is uncommon for us to do a follow-up of a
follow-up, as you have mentioned. However,
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in certain cases like this, we do follow up.
We are looking at different ways as we have
more resources ourselves right now to be
following up on outcomes and improvements
made, and where there aren’t improvements,
bringing these forward to the Legislative
Assemblies and Parliament in the case of the
federal work that we do.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Hayes. Maybe if
you just closed off acknowledging the Chair,
and then the mic operator will know when to
transition back to me. Mr. Lightstone, please
go ahead.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for that response. I agree; the
significance of the situation cannot be
understated given the impact it has on those
who are most vulnerable, as well as those in
positions who have the responsibility to
ensure their safety. I would like to thank the
Office of the Auditor General again for
conducting this third audit on this significant
subject matter. It’s unfortunate that it was
necessary, and it was very unfortunate of the
findings.

I know that the Standing Committee in the
Fourth Assembly was monitoring the
developments made by the Government of
Nunavut to address the recommendations in
the former audits. However, that fell off the
radar during the Fifth Assembly, and our
Committee did not follow up with the
Government of Nunavut and the Department
of Family Services on meeting those
recommendations, and for that, I believe that
we must accept partial responsibility for the
situation allowing it to continue.

However, I can assure you that this situation
will not be allowed to fall off the radar again,
and I hope that this Committee and the next
Committee in the Seventh Assembly will
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continue to ensure that there is development
in this area.

My next question will be for the Office of the
Auditor General again. As I indicated, the
first line of the report indicates that this audit
report describes a crisis. I would like to ask if
the Office of the Auditor General can
elaborate on how your office measures and
determines when a situation is classified as a
crisis. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Lightstone. Mr.
Hayes.

Mr. Hayes: Thank you very much. As the
Auditor General stated when tabling this
report, we found failures in every area that
we examined. In addition, this audit relates to
findings that have been known in
longstanding problems.

As mentioned, we had two previous audit
reports and in response to the
recommendations in our report in 2014,
you’ll see in the department’s response often
the words “over the short-term, the
department will do something.” It follows on,
depending on the recommendation, but it’s
framed as over the short-term. We’re now
eight years after that audit report and those
commitments, and we’re still seeing these
problems. Put simply, we’re talking about the
protection of children and youth.

These are some of the most vulnerable in
society, and when we take the failures as a
whole, we found that ‘crisis’ is the best way
to describe our findings. Thank you very
much, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Hayes. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for that response. I would now
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like to pose the same question to the
Government of Nunavut officials, and I do
recognize that the term “crisis” was
mentioned in your opening comments, but |
would like to ask again: would you agree that
the overall situation for children and youth
and their families in Nunavut is currently in a
crisis situation? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
agree wholeheartedly that the report and the
reality on the ground for our social workers
and for families that are in need of an
intervention is a crisis; in fact, a serious
crisis. This crisis extends not only through all
levels of the Department of Family Services,
but it reaches most government departments.

Mr. Chairman, that is why the importance of
an implementation of a meaningful strategic
response to this crisis is required. There is no
“in the short-term” or “in the long-term.”
This is something, the reality of which has
resulted from many years of funding issues
within the department, and the initial
departure from the Department of Health and
Social Services, Sir, and in my view, in my
considered opinion, a lack of a meaningful
response coming from the previous reports
that have been tabled in this Assembly. Mr.
Chairman, it’s my position that it is now
time, and it has been time for many years, to
respond to this crisis. We need to do it in a
way that creates safety for our children and
for our families in the community, and
resources for social workers who are
providing them the services that they are
legislatively entitled to. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ellsworth. Mr.
Lightstone.
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Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Mr. Ellsworth for that response.
Given the crisis situation that we find
ourselves in, the challenges that the
Government of Nunavut has in ensuring the
safety of our children and youth, I
wholeheartedly agree that the government
must provide additional resources to meet the
needs of the current crisis situation, but as I
previously mentioned in my opening
comments, yes, we need to be reactionary,
but we also need to be proactive, not just
putting out the fire, but really killing the
spark.

In the previous Assembly, when I was raising
these issues, I tabled Greenland’s strategy to
address child abuse and neglect, which
focused on a number of key areas to really
break the silence in their communities, and at
decision-making tables such as this, but also
increase public awareness and having people
travel around communities; I think they were
termed as champions, to talk openly about it
and encourage others to do the same.

I really think that in order to address the
crisis, and of course, [ agree with you, we
need to apply the additional resources
necessary, but we must also make that effort
to be proactive and really address the root
causes. Since I tabled that Greenland strategy
almost three years ago in November 2020, I
would like to ask: has the Government of
Nunavut put thought into recreating a similar
strategy here in Nunavut to really address the
situation, as opposed to providing the best
reactionary measures that your capable of?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
During the early course of our response
development, we did a deep dive into various
literatures available, including the Greenland
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report, Mr. Lightstone, including reports that
have been conducted, such as the Coalition
of Canadian Social Workers report, internal
departmental reports, and other reports.
There are a lot of reports. What I can tell you
and this Committee is that our strategic plan
will not only seek to be reactionary to the
immediate needs and responses to the
findings of the Auditor General, but we will
also engage, as you had mentioned Sir,
proactive measures to begin addressing the
root causes in terms of why individuals and
families come into contact and intersect with
a system that was not designed for them.

In my respectful submission, Mr. Chairman,
this strategic plan must be built by members
of the community. It must be owned by all of
us. It must be recognized as a tool to help
individuals through challenging crises, crises
arising from the legacy of unresolved trauma,
as we all know, that live in our communities.
It needs to be trauma informed. It needs to be
through the lens of Inuit societal values and
Inuit Qaujimajatugangit. So to answer your
question, Mr. Lightstone, we have done a
deep dive. We want to make sure that this
plan is sustainable in the long term. We want
to ensure that it responds to the immediate
needs and efficiencies of the department, but
then moving towards a longer-term approach
to building and strengthening and preventing
folks from coming into contact with the
judicial system, which often our work at
Family Services results in. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. The next name I
have on my list: Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. In
the final line of your report’s overall message
here in “At a Glance” states, “We are
prepared to work with the government and
the Legislative Assembly on future steps to
address the findings.” I would like to know
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from the Auditor General’s Office whether or
not there has been work so far with the
Government of Nunavut, and if you could
elaborate further on how you do anticipate
working with the government and the
Assembly to address these findings, and in
what capacity would you work on future
steps? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Hayes.

Mr. Hayes: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Yes,
we have had multiple engagements with
senior officials in the departments and, in
particular, I would mention the Department
of Family Services. We have been
exchanging correspondence and we have
been informed of the work that has been
underway since our report was presented in
May. We will be continuing to monitor
what’s happening and we’re mapping out
right now how we’re going to stay abreast
and stay up to date on what is happening and
what the departments are doing.

Normally, audits are backward-looking. We
look at what has happened. We identify areas
for improvement. What we are trying to do as
an office a little bit more is being involved in
design work and helping to make sure that
there aren’t gaps or there aren’t things that
are missed along the way. We’re proposing
that we might be able to play a role like that
as the departments are planning to update
their strategic plans or update their guidance
and standards. We can be involved in support
by providing an objective and an impartial
view of what’s being planned.

We recognize that the Representative of
Children and Youth and others have roles to
play as well. We want to be respectful of the
roles that others have to play. Ultimately, we
are not the authority on resolving the issues
that we find in our audit, but we want to be a
partner in terms of achieving positive
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outcomes for children, families, social
workers, and communities. Thank you very
much, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Hayes. Ms.
Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thanks for that response. Just a quick
question on that, has the OAG stepped in, in
the past to help first, the Government of
Nunavut, related to the past audits or to any
other organization or government that has
been audited for any reason? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Hayes.

Mr. Hayes: Thank you. I might use two
examples; one in performance audit. We
regularly do early design work with the
federal government when they’re looking at
climate change and sustainable development
issues, so we are in as they’re planning their
policies and early implementation. This is
not completely foreign to us in the
performance audit area.

On the financial audit side of our work, there
has been an effort by our office over the
years to help support capacity. Whether it’s
for chief financial officers in this territory or
in other places, we have always been keen to
help out, which might and sometimes involve
stretching the normal lines of what an auditor
would do, but in the interest of the best
outcomes and accountability and
transparency, we’re always prepared to do
that. This is something that has happened
before. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.
Ms. Brewster: Thank you for that response. I

would just like to pose the question to the
Government of Nunavut team about how the
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team sees that relationship working and what
the team requires and what kinds of supports
or assistance are you seeking from the Office
of the Auditor General. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
think it’s evident on review of the report
that’s before us today for examination. It’s
clear that there’s a level of accountability that
wasn’t present in previous responses and that
accountability starts at the frontline and
extends all the way to the executive team and
even higher, perhaps.

How I envision us working with the Auditor
General is exactly as Mr. Hayes has stated in
the sense that we want to make sure that the
response to their findings are not only
meaningful and sustainable, but that they will
result in lasting change. As has been stated in
this Committee, Sir, we’ve had regularly
follow-up discussions with the Auditor
General. We’re building collaborative
relationships with many members of their
team.

As soon as our draft plan is prepared, which
we hope to have it ready as soon as possible,
we’re going to be engaging their team
through that lens: does this respond
adequately to your concerns? Will this result
in safer families and children being properly
taken care of? Will the investigative
processes be undertaken in a way that meets
best practices and standards that we will be
implementing as we transcend this process?

I think, in response to your question, it’s an
ongoing relationship and there will be times,
I suspect, where we get to a place where our
colleagues at the Office of the Auditor
General tell us, “You might want to consider
looking into this in a little more depth

Pac® ONNNJO): sdreal® AbYRDC,
DB PSP I, LRLcnAb]C

A Cse/CIe>C AbI®IAS SN DoA™
DAASQ®ILE Clla LRLHC®
Sb.oASPNPN<SHSLIL, SH>ALD>LIC SH>ANSG ST,
DP/PINPLINY AcSepeCsee
Sb_o®I®C>N<bGHISLC. Lo
SHD>ANSGALREDC AMSGLYON NG NC
P HNe LRL NN T

DNSA>NA QSO0 DNSANTNASQ < 5T
CL<d< A*RNC SbP>ANSo I PY<lo
SH>ANSTD>SHECSa<ISDae .

PaP>LSINbE/<S 5o Sb>ANY<Sa<IPC
AN b*ondbo<dSC, Acn/<eNNa*c
SboA SN g N5 D> CNRNNJC. Cedd
LRLcnrbd*o C°dNsbHNe CALASI™®
CdSLo<>Jc ALK DPN o
LcLaDSaD< Pa>yIPNNAc ®CN*of L*a
DN/ OAC®/LYJC /D NNJC LRI

AT SN AL <5b™®IC A ocnrbd®o
PEJeCP>LC Ao neabdc ¥JLLCYQSdoNe
AbYPCP>CY P " DN L]LA]C
NrsdNPry o Pa>LeIPNNNJC oS 5%GC.

CR YN PabYeIPNHAC
ARCILNONECDS AN N AN
QG <>y, Codd LRLYIC NrsdN>PeC>
AP*NC Sho®INIb>NMHECSd N, Clia
J®PLNA*a S oo ADSBD>C® 505 bNLAC
o CAC D*Pc*NC bNLo N RCH o CLbd
SPcldC <ULYDN<IP* "N SbosH
ANSHG AN H2GC QYLENSI e
CALAD*a.cd<Hd AcndnbNdJ
DNSA>RNA*Q e< g <ISLC CLbd DSbD>¢/P>NC
Lo LN <saP>NsbeN<e sdesNe
Acn<ENIC P PLeIPN o5 Clea
DS ANNN<J. Sdal™ AbYRPCE,

Ab/QPCSe (ONNNJO): sdyal™. ™ >PD.

>P%) OLNNJO): sdv®al® Ab/RPCS, <Ll
FoC D*Nc*L. L)L NAbd®o DSbsebsb>LL
Q. AQ®Pb>UIC LITdas®. Codd ASbD>L 5

YD D>OND< Db>Zn /L L
APLCDBDNNY Qs HC PPN CCPQ %D,
DPYJLD*L Sbo, Shose

28



because we have this view of your
approach.” What it means from our
perspective is that we need to be open and
willing to accept that positive and
constructive criticism as we develop these
plans and as we implement them.

A key piece that I think the department has
struggled with historically is that we’ve had
the Quality Protects Action Plan, for
example, Mr. Chairman, and we’ve had other
responses in place, but I don’t think we’ve
had the partnerships that we’re seeing today
as it pertains to a whole-of-government
response and engaging colleagues at the
Office of the Auditor General, engaging with
the Representative for Children and Youth.
Through our whole-of-government approach
and response to the findings of the Office of
the Auditor General’s report, it means all of
us need to be a part of the development,
implementation, and the success of
responding to this. It’s a crisis.

We all live in community. We all have either
nieces or nephews or children. We have all
struggled at some point or another during the
course of our lives, and our department needs
to be responsive to those needs. This
oversight, this enhanced accountability
framework that I will discuss in further detail
as we move through these proceedings, is
incumbent upon all of us to be a part of.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Just to be clear, following the release of your
report, Nunavut’s Premier issued a press
release on May 30, 2023 stating that the
Department of Executive and
Intergovernmental Affairs will establish a
Government of Nunavut audit and support
function, and develop a performance
accountability framework.
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Acknowledging the expertise that the OAG
has and the comments made just now, I’d
just like to know: to date, has your office
provided or been asked to provide any
support or advice to the Government of
Nunavut officials with respect to this
initiative, knowing that when we build
something we should have expertise right at
the forefront so that what we build is the best
tool possible? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Hayes,

Mr. Hayes: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. What
I would like to say is, no, we have not had
discussions yet, but I certainly anticipate that
we will. As Deputy Ellsworth had
mentioned, one of the entry points will be
their strategic plan, their actions going
forward.

One of the areas that Mr. Hayes had
mentioned is that we do look at things like
strategic plans. We’ve looked at, for
example, the federal government’s strategies
regarding sustainable development. We have
criteria that we will look at such as: are the
commitments clear? Are the expected results
clear? Are there timelines and
accountabilities? All of those are very much
aligned with things that we would expect to
be in a performance framework, if you will.

So that would be our first step, to look at the
strategic plan, but also the evaluation
framework that’s anticipated to be associated
with that plan. That is something we
understand will be built in so that it’s not
only a plan, but there will be efforts made to
monitor its implementation.

What I can say is that, obviously our office is
in the world of performance audit, not only
just our team members, but we do have
experts in our office who can also provide
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insights in terms of what makes a good
performance accountability framework and
what kind of measures we would be looking
for. That’s the type of lens that we would
take to assess that type of framework. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. McKenzie. Ms.
Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman
and thank you, Mr. McKenzie. When we
consider action on a crisis, we are now four
or five months since the report was tabled.
What is the timeline for creating a response
in a crisis? Is it four weeks, is it four days, is
it four months, is it four years? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Hayes.

Mr. Hayes: When we were preparing this
report and moving through the audit findings
that we had, we took the unusual step of
writing to the departments about some of the
findings. We sent a letter in December 2022,
informing the department of some of the
concerns we had about child protection and
risks that might be there. We identified some
suggested actions that should be taken.

We followed up again in February as our
work progressed to provide another batch of
information to the department on the same
type of subject. In those cases, when we are
talking about the impacts on children, the
effects on the families, we expected
immediate action.

In terms of timeline, I don’t know what more
I could say than “immediate.” To us, that
means right away. In terms of the other
pieces of our report, whether it is relating to
information management or housing, we
recognize that some of those root causes take
a little bit longer to address. However, seeing
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progress in the short, medium, and long term
is important. We often asked that
departments and agencies that are responding
to our recommendations provide timelines so
that it gives a marking post that people, like
all of you on this Committee, can hold the
government to account in achieving their
progress.

I would like to bring us back to the initial
letter that we sent in December. Seeing
progress on that; this is too long already.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Can you just elaborate on the responses that
you received from those December and
February letters? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Hayes.

Mr. Hayes: Yes, thank you. On page three of
our report, it is part of paragraph 11, we
identified that there were 48 percent of the
cases where there had been follow-up. The
department told us that there were follow-up
actions taken, but we received no evidence to
support those statements. Likewise, 33
percent of those cases, the follow-up was
underway, and in 19 percent of the cases,
follow-up hadn’t started at all.

I would highlight that this report came out
almost six months after we sent that letter
and essentially, in 52 percent of the cases
follow-up hadn’t been completed. In 48
percent of the cases that follow-up had been
done, we didn’t see anything more than just a
statement that there was nothing else that
needed to be done for those cases.

We were concerned about that because of the
other findings that are contained in our report
about evidence and about the lack of action
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that had been taken. I suppose that is the best
information that we have regarding the
follow-up.

The Deputy Minister has informed us about
actions taken in relation to planning, but I
don’t have more information right now as to
the status of those cases. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman
and thank you for that response. I realize that
that is a couple of pages ahead, however, I
think it is really important to take this
opportunity to ask where those children are,
and have they been followed up on? This
information was not shared with us in any of
the opening statements, and as I said earlier
this morning, these are real children. These
are real families. They are connected to us
individually, they are connected to our
communities, they are connected to our
education system. Who is following up on
them? Are these cases still out there in the
netherworld where these children, who
potentially are in danger; have they been
followed up on, and if they haven’t, why
haven’t they been followed up on? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
share your concerns with respect to the
actions not taken immediately following the
receipt of the December management letter. I
arrived at the Department of Family Services
the week of April 24, or around that time.
That was one of my first questions after
having received the management letters from
the Auditor General. I recognized at that time
that quite a bit of work could have been done
to immediately respond to their findings.
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I was advised at the time that all the matters
were followed up on and I was told by the
Office of the Auditor General that they did
receive a statement to that affect, however,
they did not receive evidence to support that
statement.

Mr. Chairman, I have instructed and can
confirm that all those matters were followed
up on. I have received evidence to support
that conclusion. We have engaged as a
reaction to this an immediate reaction, a
framework where there is regular follow-up
with children in care, with children out-of-
territory, with adults out-of-territory, but I
think, and I don’t want to sit here and purport
to make excuses to this committee, the crisis
is described. It is evident that the department
failed in its obligation to children and to the
necessary standards that the work of this
department should engage and should be
accountable for.

Mr. Chairman, I can’t speak to the reasons
why previous administration did not respond
in a meaningful way to the Office of the
Auditor General, but I can tell this
Committee and the public and everyone, that
it is our duty and going forward these
situations will no longer occur in our
communities.

Now, recognizing that we still face
significant human resource challenges,
recognizing that those challenges are
exacerbated by a lack of adequate housing
and office space, and notwithstanding those
realities, we have taken steps where there are
no social workers in communities to do
regular visits, to make sure that families are
supported to work through other Family
Services resources, but we need to do more.

I agree that this crisis doesn’t mean that we
take six months to a year to develop a plan
while we leave everything sitting. It needs to
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be, as I’ve described it to some of my
colleagues, we need to turn up the volume on
all the pieces, and that includes ensuring that
standards are being met, that children are
being followed up on, that investigation
processes are being undertaken in a way that
aligns with standards and best social practice.
As we continue to respond to this
performance audit, as | mentioned earlier, the
accountability piece is going to be something
that engages all levels of government, and in
fact, this Committee, and the House
generally speaking. In response to your
inquiry, I have it on good evidence that all
these matters were followed up on. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
would like to hear from Executive and
Intergovernmental Affairs about their
participation in the development of this
strategic plan, and that includes holding
Family Services accountable. That lack of
evidence of follow-up really concerns me,
just knowing from my own personal
experience with dealing with the foster care
system with family members and knowing
that there is the potential that children are in
harm’s way and that the Government of
Nunavut isn’t doing the basic tracking to
ensuring their safety, I would like to hear
more about what EIA’s function is in this
crisis. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Brewster. I will
remind Members to refrain from using
acronyms. It doesn’t help the interpreters as
well as the public of understanding. We are
all familiar with the lingo, but everyone that
is listening isn’t. Mr. Onalik.

Mr. Onalik (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) I just want to
start by saying the Department of Executive
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and Intergovernmental Affairs fully
acknowledges and supports the
characterization around this table that this is
a crisis requiring a whole-of-government
response. The findings through this audit
have made us understand there are some
systemic issues within the government that
we need to quickly address.

You had alluded earlier to the performance
audit function that we hope to bring into
place into the Department of Executive and
Intergovernmental Affairs, to continually
follow up on issues that stem not only from
this audit, but from future audits.

We have, I think, a strong financial lens to
look at audits. We have some work to do to
develop the performance and the operational
responses to the Office of the Auditor
General. That is something that we hope to
have for this Assembly’s consideration in the
coming budget. Primarily though, we have
been directed at the department by Cabinet to
ensure that the needs that are identified by
Family Services, in some ways, where the
path clears to make sure that the department
is able to achieve and receive what they need
from other departments in the government
from the budget process, the supports that
they need.

In this instance we have been more than in
other budget development years, asking for
business cases. We are asking for
information in making sure that other
departments that interact are able to respond
quickly so that we can have something in
place. This has been a standing item at the
Deputy Ministers committee meetings where
we check in to make sure that the department
has their short-term needs met, or if they
don’t, there is a plan in place to address
those.
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I think from my department’s perspective,
the goal is to build out that function to make
sure that these things are properly followed-
up on, and in the second instance, to make
sure that MLAs will have substantive
business plans and budgets to consider in
response to this crisis. (interpretation) Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman
and thank you, Deputy Minister. I did say,
“Executive and Intergovernmental Affairs”
first, and I will remember not to use the
acronym.

I’m just recalling the Premier’s statement
about taking bold, decisive action for
transformational change. I’d like to know
what bold and decisive actions are they
planning to transform the system to protect
the children. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Onalik.

Mr. Onalik (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) I think there
are two aspects to this. The first piece is
working with the Department of Family
Services to make sure that using existing
appropriations that this Assembly has
approved and existing policies to ramp up the
staffing and supports, either through double
fills, or we have had some conversations
about expanding the limits of contracting out
functions in order to achieve some short-term
needs. Also, I think it is, as we have all heard
here today, this is 12 years since the first
audit, and we fully acknowledge that there
are no magic silver bullets here. Part of this
process here is to give the Department of
Family Services some time and space to
respond substantively to make the systemic
changes. I think the goal here is to make sure
that what is presented to all MLAs in the
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coming budget session is something that will
really hopefully achieve many of the
shortcomings that have been identified. I
hope that answers the question.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Onalik and
thank you, Mr. Chairman. Just going back to
Family Services and professional practices,
are social workers responsible to a set of
professional practices? Who holds them
accountable, and would it be bold and
transformative to hold social workers
accountable to keep adequate records and to
take decisive and bold action on issues of
child abuse or any other concerns that may
arise regarding children who they become
aware of through reports? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. We’ll start off with
Mr. Ellsworth and see if Mr. Onalik has
anything to follow up.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
To the member’s point, there is not a
regulatory body established in Nunavut that
would be similar to, for example, the Law
Society or the College of Physicians or what
have you that sets standards and levels of
competency for social workers. This is
dissimilar from other jurisdictions in the
north and in Canada generally.

However, part a transformative change
requires assigning resources to the
community social workers, empowering
them to make those bold decisions, making
sure that they have the tools and resources to
accommodate the collaterals that will arise
from the decision, Mr. Chairman. In addition,
it is clear on the face of the report that there
are not enough social workers. Often, I have
spoken to many of them. I’ve been told that
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they want to engage preventative kinds of
practice approaches, but because of the
serious nature of the issues that they’re
dealing with, often times they are in a
protective status where there is significant
risk to a child or a family which doesn’t
allow them to engage in this sort of
protective measure that we see that is
articulated clearly within the legislation and
within the federal Act.

Where I am going with this, Sir, is that we
are working diligently to make sure that we
can get them the resources, not only in the
short term, but in the long term, and this goes
to some of the ways that we have reprofiled
some of the positions to respond to that
standard that you spoke of. While we don’t
have, again, a regulatory body that would
oversee the competence and other sort of
activities of the social workers, it is
something that we have looked at, and is not
in the short-term immediate response, but is
something we need to explore further, not
only with this group, but with Inuit
organizations and with communities, through
the lens of ensuring that the work of the
social workers is grounded in an ability to
make decisive and informed responses to on-
the-ground incidents that are happening in
community. I trust that response is to your
inquiry, Ma’am. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Hayes would
like to respond as well.

Mr. Hayes: Thank you. [ would start by just
saying that documenting is not what I would
consider to be bold and transformative, and
the reason why I say that is documentation in
these kinds of cases is fundamental for the
continuity of care and protection for these
children. So I wouldn’t interpret the
statements that the department has made as
being contradictory to that.
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We can unpack this a little bit later, but bold
and transformative change would probably
involve taking creative and innovative looks
at the way the government works; breaking
down silos. It’s exactly why the Auditor
General recommended and wanted to
emphasize a whole-of-government approach.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Hayes. Ms.
Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Hayes. That
was exactly my point. Hearing again that
human resources are an issue, and that the
department is looking at different ways to
address that, what we know is following the
release of the Auditor General’s report,
Nunavut Tunngavik Incorporated issued a
press release on June 15, 2023, that stated
NTT’s Social and Cultural department; I’'m
using NTI because it’s actually a quote.
NTTI’s “SCD will continue to research
potential opportunities for NTI to become
more involved in providing and overseeing
prevention services for Inuit children and
families.”

I would just like to know, today we heard a
little bit about the partnership with NTI in the
opening statements, and I would just like a
little bit more information about how NTI
has reached out to the Government of
Nunavut and what additional potential
support or initiatives have been discussed for
NTI to play a preventative role in child and
youth welfare in Nunavut? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Brewster. Mr.
Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Mr. Chairman, if [ might ask
my colleague, Mr. Onalik to respond to that,
please.
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Chairman: Thank you. Go ahead, Mr.
Onalik.

Mr. Onalik (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Since we
received that overture from Nunavut
Tunngavik, we have actually expanded the
partnership committee table that we have, as
a whole, with Nunavut Tunngavik and the
regional Inuit associations to include a table
specifically on child welfare. As you can
imagine in the summertime, as we are
coming out of the summer, we are hoping to
have open dialogue with Nunavut Tunngavik
and the regional Inuit associations and have a
table for that for us to lay out where we are
headed in terms of strategic planning and
then to hear those operational concerns from
Nunavut Tunngavik. From a structural point
of view, there has been a definite, and albeit
a recent pivot, I think, to creating a place for
these discussions to take place.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I’m just wondering, in light of the fact that
this is a process that is still in its beginning
phases, which I can’t emphasize enough,
really concerns me, and I think it concerns
everybody here that the action on this crisis
is happening at what feels like a snail’s pace
because these are real children and families
that we are talking about today, in crisis, and
they are getting through every day while this
slow response moves forward.

In the discussions with Nunavut Tunngavik,
have there been discussions about the
possibility of prevention services that could
immediately be taken up by this very
important partner because as Nunavut Inuit, |
look to that organization as a helping
organization for me as a Nunavut Inuk, and
for my family and my community?
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There is a sense that there should be some
responsibility and that the means might be
there where they are absent in a government
response. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Onalik.

Mr. Onalik (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) We are
anticipating hearing exactly that from
Nunavut Tunngavik. I don’t want to
presuppose what they are coming forward
with. I think we acknowledge the
Government of Nunavut has very specific
responsibilities, and this process of
interacting with Nunavut Tunngavik is not
intended to handoff our responsibilities to
anyone else. We have legislative
responsibilities to our families and to our
children that we intend to fully honour.

The opportunity I think, with a conversation
with Nunavut Tunngavik and the regional
Inuit associations is perhaps, to have
organizations with a bit more time and space
to start looking at the longer-term
preventative measures collaboratively. We
are still headed towards to our first full
committee meeting. We have had initial
meetings to deal with the structure and how
we’ll interact, but in terms of the substance,
we are hoping this fall to have those
meaningful conversations.

Our focus right now, and I want to be really,
really clear, is we have a long list of things
that we need to get our act together on today,
and hearing what my colleague from Family
Services has indicated, I think our immediate
effort is to make sure that we are aware of
where all of our children are, or where the
kids in-care are and then we can expand into
that more strategic conversation as we get
into this pre-plan.
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The conversations with Nunavut Tunngavik
and the regional Inuit associations will be
collaborative as we develop the strategic
planning, not only for this, but as it has been
mentioned, our housing plan greatly impacts
this conversation, and I think we have had
examples in the very recent past where we
weren’t able to send social workers to
communities because not only was there no
housing, there were no hotel rooms available
as well.

There are all these conversations that are
connected to make sure that from the
frontline out that we are able to provide these
supports. (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman
and thank you, Mr. Onalik for that response
and for bringing up housing. I got a little bit
excited because I thought that maybe you
were referring to the social determinates of
health that clearly have a role to play in
addressing child abuse in Nunavut.

I would like to pivot, and as soon as you said
it, I thought of Ross Geller, but I would like
to pivot to the health team to hear from them.
I’ll stay on the subject of Nunavut
Tunngavik’s potential role in having an
impact, and I do acknowledge that Mr.
Onalik said more of a longer term. However,
I think we know that in partnership with the
federal government during the public health
emergency, that Nunavut Tunngavik helped
to feed families. For the first time ever in
Nunavut, we were able to guarantee that
every single family had enough food to eat
every single day because we know that
people who are healthy are better able to
fight off, specifically it was COVID,
however, we know that the long-term
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impacts of having good nutrition impacts
education, it impacts everything in your life.

When it comes to the potential role for
Nunavut Tunngavik Incorporated to have an
impact on prevention and the safety of our
children, what role could they play in helping
to deal with the housing crisis, with food
insecurity, with everything that impacts the
social determinants of health? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Brewster. Ms.
Hunt.

Ms. Hunt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank
you to the Member for the question. I think
these are incredibly important conversations
and one that, from a social determinants
perspective and I’m really pleased that the
member used that language, and talking
about boldness, and all-of-government
approach is just one part of the solution. It’s
an all of Nunavut approach that is really
going to help us continue to improve the
lives of children and families across this
territory. Our relationship with key partners,
like Nunavut Tunngavik Incorporated, is
incredibly important, because it brings
together opportunities to look at role, scope,
functions and leveraging the strengths of
different organizations, government,
community-level service providers, and
community as a whole.

As we continue to do our planning where
we’re looking at more opportunities to be
integrated, to have a clear and common
vision, to have sound direction together, and
to be paddling in one direction, it may mean
that we do different things, but the things that
we bring to the table and that we do are for a
common good in improving the lives of
children and families.
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Our ability to make sure that our goals are
common, that we have the right level of
knowledge, skill, and funding in place, that
we’re directing that work, that we’re
empowering others to step in and do that
work, but also that level of ensuring that
we’re paving that path for the traditional
knowledge of sacred elders and knowledge
keepers to also interweave around our
responses to the way in which that we
support community and families. That
integration really is the strength to that,
because no department, no organization is
going to solve these challenges together.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman
and thank you for that response. I would just
like to talk about how important it is to
provide mental health supports to families
who are in crisis. The overall social
determinants of health that impact mental
health and how the Department of Health is
going to be part of this process that we do
have to support 100 percent, the children
who have been flagged to us now. However,
it’s ultimately as important to prevent
children from coming into the system that
we’re talking about.

We know that ensuring that families are well-
fed, well-housed, and that they have access to
mental health support in order to move
through whatever personal crisis might be
bringing them to this system, so if I could
hear from the Department of Health about
how that’s being woven into this response,
I’d really appreciate it. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Hunt.
Ms. Hunt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and

thank you to the Member. You’re absolutely
right. Ensuring that mental health and
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wellness services to all Nunavummiut, in
different ways, is incredibly important. One,
for our children who are currently engaged in
the system, but also for children and families
who were hoping to ensure that they don’t
become part of the system, or for our families
whose children will be returning home to
them, and ultimately, that’s an important goal
for us.

So there has been work underway to
strengthen our mental health and addictions
services across the territory. Part of that
work, of course, has been with Nunavut
Tunngavik Incorporated in the establishment
of the Nunavut Recovery Centre, a centre
that is Inuit-designed, Inuit-led, and will also
be Inuit-staffed, as much as possible. So
ensuring that that option closer to home and
in-territory will be available soon for
community members is incredibly important.

We’ve also made sure that there is funding at
local community levels for land-based
programming and healing, which we know is
really important, those sacred teachings that
come from the land, those opportunities to be
out on the land working through your
challenges and strengthening your resiliency
through traditional practices.

Our paraprofessional program; that has also
been incredibly successful, where we’re
making sure that local Inuit people are going
through a process of laddering their
knowledge and skills and being able to offer
programs and services at the community-
level that are targeted and directed right at
children and families, that often include very
traditional practices and processes, learning
through activities that are traditional, cooking
together, having important conversations
around things like sexual abuse, family
violence, neglect, and trying to take away the
shame and stigma of what families may be
going through and offering help.
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We also have the Healing Through Talking
line that is available 24 hours a day to all of
our community members as another option to
be able to be responsive, to intervene, to
navigate, and to also help to support referrals
across the territory and outside. So those are
some of the areas that have been
instrumental.

Also, the training that has been part of our
work to ensure that paraprofessionals and
health and wellness staff across the territory
have the necessary skills and training to
identify abuse, neglect, and sexual assault, to
be able to know what to do with that, who to
contact, what their obligations around
reporting and standards are, to make sure that
there is integration and coordination across
different departments. Much of that work is
taking place and now in action, not only with
the Department of Family Services, but
across the government as a whole, to talk
about where we have opportunities to
leverage different areas that support things
like mental health.

Mental health is not simply just about being
able to access a counsellor, which we’re
increasing and having mental health nurses,
but making sure that people have welcoming,
supportive, and appropriate places to go.
Whether that’s for education, whether that’s
for housing, whether that’s for family
services, where they can meet their needs, so
that every door is the right door. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.
Ms. Brewster: I think I’ve exhausted my line
of questioning for now. Thank you, Mr.

Chairman.

Chairman: If [ may, just to get a
clarification, Mr. Ellsworth and Mr. Onalik
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have spoken about a strategic plan and there
was some vagueness to the timeline. With
some of the discussions with stakeholders,
such as Nunavut Tunngavik Incorporated just
starting, where is the government on their
timeline for a strategic plan to be brought
forward, especially if they are looking at
consulting with the Office of the Auditor
General as well? Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The timeline is as soon as possible. However,
recognizing the importance of engagement
and consultation with not only internal
stakeholders but also with Nunavut
Tunngavik Incorporated and the regional
Inuit organizations. We have defined an
initial strategic plan to be developed,
hopefully, before the end of the fall so that
we would have something tabled in this
House for you in the winter sitting.

Chairman: Thank you. I’m sure we will be
following that. I have no more names for my
list under the third page of the report and
before we go to paragraphs 1 through 8, we
will take a 15-minute break and Mr. Onalik,
you had a comment when we come back.
Thank you. It will be a 15-minute break.

>>Committee recessed at 10:40 and
resumed at 11:00

Chairman: Thank you. I would like to call
the Committee meeting back to order. As |
had mentioned previously, we’re going to be
doing the report in sections by paragraph. We
will move on to the introduction, paragraphs
1 through 8. I’ll ask Committee Members to
go to those pages in their books and
acknowledge the Chair if you want to lead
off questions. Mr. Malliki.

Mr. Malliki (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Welcome, government officials.
My question will be for the (interpretation
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ends) Auditor General. In paragraph 2 of
your report, it notes that social and economic
challenges such as inadequate housing, food
insecurity, poverty and remoteness creates a
complex range of issues that put some
children and families at risk. Did your audit
evaluate the housing status or levels of
poverty or food insecurity experienced by
individuals and families involved in the cases
you reviewed? (interpretation) Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Malliki. Mr.
Hayes.

Mr. Hayes: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. This
audit was not about the root causes of the
intergenerational trauma that we mentioned
and the socio-economic pressures that we
mentioned. We recognize that there has been
a difficult history, but the focus of our report
was on the protection and support for the
children and youth today. Some of the social
and economic pressures mentioned will
likely continue if the action is not taken.
That’s why we identified these root causes
that we will discuss later in the report that
hopefully the government can take
collaborative action to address. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Hayes. Mr.
Malliki.

Mr. Malliki (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. That is unfortunate to hear since
this shows the lack of a comprehensive
review although it is a very substantive issue
revolving around welfare and food
insecurity, which is a rather large concern
here in Nunavut, especially considering the
ever-increasing inflation costs.

I will be asking this next question to our
government officials. (interpretation ends) In
paragraph 3 of the Auditor General’s report,
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it notes that the office’s 2014 audit found that
the Department of Family Services made
unsatisfactory progress in complying with
key child protection standards. To what
extent does the Department conduct ongoing
reviews of its progress in respect of the
Auditor General’s findings from the office’s
2014 report? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for the question, Sir. As |
mentioned earlier, I understand that
following the last audit, the government of
the day developed what was called a Quality
Protects Action Plan. It seemed that that plan
and supplementary reports were tabled in the
Assembly of the day, leading all the way up
into 2017, if I’'m not mistaken.

It’s my considered opinion that we need to
do more as a department than just simply
state that actions are completed. Those
Quality Protects Action Plans said
“complete, complete, complete” in the
documents that I reviewed leading up to
today’s appearance, and it has been difficult
for me to find any underlying evidence to
support those conclusions. While I can’t
speak of the reasons why that that is the
reality of my finding, I can speak to what
we’re going to do moving forward.

Mr. Chairman, as we mentioned earlier, this
plan needs to be robust. It needs to respond
to all of the findings of the Auditor General’s
office. It needs to bring in our partners across
the departments that have a role to play in
integrating our services to ensure that they
align with the needs of Nunavummiut. It has
to have an evaluation framework; it needs to
be measurable. We need to be able to
measure whether or not the steps we are
taking to address these issues are actually
making positive change.
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To answer your question, Sir, I’'m not
confident that actual change took place
following the last audits because, Sir, if they
were, with all due respect, we likely wouldn’t
be here today. I can assure this Assembly and
Nunavummiut that the plan that we intend to
implement will be sustainable, will be
measurable, will have routine updates to this
committee and to the Assembly, generally
will be made. We’ll be showing that we have
significant steps in collaboration with not
only other departments of government, but
also, as mentioned earlier with Nunavut
Tunngavik Incorporated, regional Inuit
organizations, not-for-profits that we engage
with, to ensure that our response is built from
the ground up and that we can all own this
plan, not only as a whole-of-government
approach, but a whole-of-Nunavut approach.

It will take all of us independently and
collectively to work together to break down
the barriers of the systems and processes that
have engaged for many years around these
pieces. It will require reflection and
introspection of ourselves, and independent
and specific actions in terms of how we’re
responding to this strategic plan, and how
we’re developing responses that not only
speak specifically to the Auditor General’s
findings, but that go further, that explore the
root causes and that defines ways to address
not only the legacy and trauma that live in
our communities, but the underlying root
causes like poverty, food security, and
homelessness.

It will be really important that this committee
and the House generally holds us accountable
to these standards and expectations. That
expectation also goes through the department
as a whole and all the departments that are
partners in all of this.
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What that means to me, Sir, is that the
strategic plan should not only define the
“what has to happen,” it must also define the
“how is it going to happen,” and in order to
hold the people that are responsible for
discharging the how piece of it, we need to
have work plans. There needs to be measures
in place for the people that are discharging
these functions so that we can ensure that this
plan is meeting its intended objective. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Malliki.

Mr. Malliki (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for the clear response.
All constituents need to be properly
represented because we do it on behalf of our
people, and especially for the children and
youth in school.

Can the official explain what other planning
has been done for their staff? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Ellsworth, did you get
enough of that question to be able to respond,
or would you like the member to rephrase?

Mr. Ellsworth: Mr. Chairman, with all due
respect, I think I missed 75 percent of the
Member’s comment. My apologies.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Malliki, if you
can just condense and just get to your
question.

Mr. Malliki (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. What I stated was that we need to
be served properly in Nunavut, especially for
the children and youth. I would like to know
what planning has been done by the
Department of Family Services to hire more
staff. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.
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Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you Mr. Chairman
and thank you, Sir, for that question. I think
it’s clear on the face of the audit that we do
need more staff, and we need staff that reflect
Nunavummiut.

As we go through this process with our
colleagues at Human Resources, we need to
create opportunities and pathways for Inuit to
come into the fold of the department and to
come into the fold of the government
generally.

Early plans include looking at ways for
career planning with our partners at the
college that would see pathways created for
people who are engaging in the social work
programming that the college offers, either
with the Bachelor of Social Work or the
Family Resource Worker training, and to
create pathways that are not only available,
but meaningful.

That means looking at adding support
services for those that are going through
these processes, leveraging job opportunities
that will not only see them on the frontline,
but will see them in the various capacities
within the department.

I think we’re all aware here that much work
is required to achieve the objectives of the
government’s Inuit employment plan, and so
we’re looking at creative ways to do just that.

More to your point, Sir, this plan needs to
reflect our communities. It needs to look like
Nunavummiut. It needs to recognize some of
the challenges that exist within our
communities, and to be really innovative to
respond to those challenges. Oftentimes, as a
government we find ourselves working
through processes that seem to be processes
for the sake of process.
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We need to look internally and externally
through the lens of breaking down barriers,
breaking down areas where it makes it
difficult for Nunavummiut to participate
meaningfully, not only in the development of
the plan, but to come in as employees, and to
ensure that our public service is reflective of
Nunavut’s demographic.

I know I’ve gone a little bit further than what
your direct question is, Sir, but our plans
include, as a next step, engaging
communities to find out what their views are
to ensure that this plan, again, is not only
reflective of all of Nunavut’s diverse
communities, but is also responsive to the
specific needs of individuals, and we need to
be really flexible in the way we approach
these potential program offerings as we move
forward. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ellsworth.
Before I go back to Mr. Malliki, I would like
to get some input from Ms. Cronin. I do
realize that you’re still fairly new to
Nunavut, and I think that’s why I think the
committee needs to hear your perspective on
some of your early observations on some of
the available low hanging fruit of progress.
Ms. Cronin.

Ms. Cronin: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
think that’s a great opportunity for the
Department of Human Resources to play that
important role in partnering with the
Department of Family Services.

Our role as a department is to provide a
service in ensuring that departments, such as
Mr. Ellsworth’s, has the right people in the
right place at the right time, and I think, as
evidenced in this report, there is opportunity
for us to do better.

There are macro solutions, which is not the
intent of your question, but micro solutions
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are... you know we’re faced with those every
day, where we have an opportunity to help
break down the barriers that were mentioned
in terms of our staffing process, and our
policies and procedures to help departments
be successful.

That’s evidenced in our policy manuals, but
also, and we’ll get to this later in the report,
is our functions in our own areas where
we’re understaffed, where there’s an
opportunity for us to increase our capacity.
The HR is key in helping to ensure that
departments are successful, and we’re
anxious to play an active role in that.

We have a group of very hard-working
individuals who have been faced with a lot of
reactive work, and you need to get to the
proactive work as well, which is the macro
pieces that maybe over the next couple days
we’ll have an opportunity to dig into a little
bit better as well. Thank you for the
opportunity to speak to that.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Cronin. I do
acknowledge that we will get into a little bit
deeper into the staffing later on in the report,
but I just wanted to get some of those
preliminary comments. I think they’re
valuable. Mr. Malliki.

Mr. Malliki (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for the clear response
to my question. It needs to be heard in
Nunavut.

My next question will be for the Auditor
General (interpretation ends) As described in
paragraph 4, your office examined whether
three government departments provided
certain services from January 2019 to May
2022. Given that the current audit was
conducted almost a decade after the follow-
up audit, how did your office account for
changes in departmental mandate, policies or
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program delivery that may have occurred
since 20147 (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Hayes.

Mr. Hayes: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
might ask Mr. McKenzie to add to my
answer here. When we did our audit in 2014,
the period that we were looking at was from
March 2011 until August 2014.

The Department of Family Services was
created in April 2013, so it was... . [ think I
got the dates wrong. Let me go back. Our
audit period was March 2011 to August
2013, so there was a very short period after
the department was created. It was a
consolidation of child and family-related
programs from six different departments,
right?

So, our audit really wasn’t able to see the
impact of the creation of that department.
The other thing that happened around the
time of our 2014 audit was the passage of the
Representative for Children and Youth Act
that created that important position.

So obviously those two things were a big part
of looking at changes in mandate for this
audit. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr.
McKenzie might be able to answer a bit
more.

Chairman: Thank you. You can supplement
Mr. Hayes’ response, Mr. McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
To supplement Deputy Hayes’ response, we
also took into consideration... . Essentially
because we have looked at procedures, for
example; we looked at the policies and
procedures that were in place during the audit
period, so we didn’t go back to the previous
audit and use those as a source of criteria, if
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you will. Rather we looked at, for example,
the standards and procedures manual that
was in place, we used the structured
decision-making tool that had been adopted
by the department, and we used those as the
basis for looking, for example, for
compliance against standards.

We looked at what was essentially in place
during the time period of the audit that we
covered. We also, in recognizing that there
had been changes, in terms of the
organizations, that’s why we included the
Department of Health and the Department of
Human Resources in the audit, recognizing
that those were obviously developments with
the split of Family Services from Health, and
also just given the roles that they play. We
felt that it was important to include those as
part of the audit as well. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Malliki.

Mr. Malliki (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for clear responses to
my questions. I would still like to direct my
questions to the Auditor General’s office.
(interpretation ends) Paragraph 5 of your
report directs readers to the “About the
Audit” section for further details. At the
bottom of page 19, it indicates that you
integrated questions about the United
Nations’ Sustainable Development Goals
into your audit approach. Can you elaborate
further on this aspect of your audit and how
it is relevant to Nunavut’s situation?
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. McKenzie.

Mr. Mckenzie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
In terms of the sustainable development

goals, this is an initiative that our office has
taken on now for about five or six years, so
we are purposely looking at the sustainable
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development goals in all of the audits that
we’re conducting at the federal-level and at
the territorial-level.

There are two concepts behind the goals; one
is the concept of not only serving current
generations, but also taking into
consideration future generations. That was
really the spirit of the sustainable
development goals that really influenced a lot
of our thinking and the work that we did, but
also the notion of not leaving anyone behind.
That is kind of one of the underlying, again,
concepts or principles of the sustainable
development goals and was relevant with
respect to the work that we were doing in
terms of looking at the child protection
activities of the department.

The specific goals that we have looked at,
there were a number of them, but probably
the most relevant would be, just for
reference, sustainable development goal 16
and it’s one that we often consider. It’s
around developing effective and accountable
institutions, but it also has a target related to
ending child abuse. Again, so we use those
kinds of overarching themes within the
design of the audit and the way that we
approached the audit work that we are
undertaking. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Malliki.

Mr. Malliki (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I also thank you for that
clarification. Now, Inuit culture has no
comparable culture throughout the entire
globe, so it requires providing real respect to
this unique culture of Inuit. Particularly
related to our residents whom we represent
where overarching services will be provided.
I wanted to firstly speak to that in this
commentary.
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I have another question to the Deputy
Minister of Health. (interpretation ends)
Paragraph 7 of the Auditor General’s report
lists a number of service areas in health
which directly relate to issues of child
protection. What is the current status of the
department’s specialized pediatric services?
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Hunt.

Ms. Hunt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank
you to the Member for your question. A few
things that have taken place over the last
while are some updates around policies.

The Internal Child Welfare Policy that was
recently revised, really, is around supporting
frontline health care workers and their duty
to report and mandatory reporting. That draft
policy is in its final stages. It does create
standardized processes and collaboration
with the Department of Family Services for
communication pathways and effectiveness
of the important roles and functions that each
area plays.

Also, the Pediatric Sexual Assault in
Community is a new policy that was recently
created. It really is around supporting health
care providers in being able to understand
clearly the performing of their medical and
forensic assessments of children who may
have experienced sexual abuse or sexual
assault and other forms of violence. In the
completion of that, which is coming in the
next few months, there will be significant
training that is cross-training not just with the
Department of Health and our frontline staff,
but also an integrated set of training with the
Department of Family Services.

We also have made sure that the No SANE
In Sight training is available to all of our
frontline health and wellness professionals. It
is self-guided training that really was
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developed by the Internal Association of
Forensic Nurses and so it was made open to
all of our nurses across the territory since
2021.

We have also had two recorded trainings that
have taken place on pediatric sexual assault
examination kits because we know it’s very
important when we’re working with children
and especially when we think about the
importance of safety and culturally safe care
that that training being guided in a way that
isn’t just around the clinical assessment but
also the important aspects that our health
professionals understand in serving
Nunavummiut people, the societal values,
and common practices and also the
availability of interpreters to help engage in
conversation and ensure that there’s common
understanding and a level of safety as well.

We have the community nurse orientation,
which also is focused on duty to report, and
that makes sure that it also includes an
understanding of the child and family
services legislation and Act and where the
interconnection between the role of the
health professional and the role of Child and
Family Services is at play so that it’s very
clear and there isn’t a blurring of those lines,

but really, an appropriate and proper practice.

The last piece that I’ll talk about is around
pediatric services that also provide different
options right at that local community level to
our nurses and health professionals in our
health centres. We have the virtual pediatric
sexual assault line; one for the Qikiqtaaluk
region, the Kivalliq region, as well as the
Kitikmeot region, one is served on-call 24/7
for any known or suspected child neglect or
sexual assault. We have physicians from our
counterpart hospitals that will be able to
provide support, examination,
recommendation, treatment, and those kinds
of things. We have the Health Sciences
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Centre in Winnipeg as well as Stanton
Hospital in our Northwest Territories. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Malliki.

Mr. Malliki (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Now, the retort from the Deputy
Minister of Health included mentioning this
issue, which I want to add onto, in terms of
schools being included, as students enrolled
are numerous. On more than one occasion, |
have noted along with others, that teachers
are usually on the forefront of ascertaining
cases of child abuse.

I wonder, which of the officials can provide a
response to that query? Are students
involved, or rather are teachers involved or
other frontline school staff? These workers
are generally on the frontlines when it comes
to noting potential cases of child abuse.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Ms. Hunt, did you want to lead
off the response to that or should I go to Mr.
Onalik? Oh, Mr. Ellsworth? Okay.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
In the current version of the consolidated
standards and procedures manual that we all
engage, it places a positive response protocol
for not only social workers but GN school
staff, medical professionals, the RCMP, and
others in responding to reported child abuse
and neglect. Social workers, by statute, are
required to investigate whether the child
needs protection as provided by the Act and
they must ensure that the child is safe,
following that initial review.

Historically, there has been cited a lack of
information sharing between relevant
departments in this regard. However, as [
mentioned earlier, our departments are taking
steps to ensure that these integration of
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services through the training that my
colleague, Ms. Hunt, earlier described, staff
who are in these positions in schools and
others have a cognizant awareness of their
obligations to report where they suspect
issues of child abuse or neglect are living
within or by certain individuals that they are
there to serve. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Malliki.

Mr. Malliki (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I thank you for clarifying the roles
and responsibilities in this area, as it is quite
a critical part of protecting our children, as
any children ought never to be placed in
these risky or potentially threatening
situations as they are our future.

My next question is for the Auditor General.
(interpretation ends) Your audit addressed
the roles and responsibilities of the
departments of Family Services, Health, and
Human Resources for the purpose of this
audit. To what extent did you reach out to
other Nunavut-based entities which are often
involved in addressing issues relating to
children, youth or families in need of
protective services including the RCMP, the
Office of the Representative for Children and
Youth and the Arctic Children and Youth
Foundation’s Umingmak Centre?
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Cotnoir.

Ms. Cotnoir: It was very important for us to
meet many people working for local
organizations and organizations representing
Inuit. We met with representatives, for
example, at organizations like Nunavut
Tunngavik Incorporated, we met with people
from Inuit Tapiriit Kanatami, Tungasivvingat
Inuit, the Kitikmeot Friendship Society in
Cambridge Bay, and local organizations in
the area of social work in Baker Lake. We
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also met with the Pauktuutit Inuit Women of
Canada, the Canadian organization
representing Inuit women in Canada, and the
Representative for Children and Youth. We
also met with representatives of the RCMP at
headquarters and also in some communities
we had visited, but also through the phone in
other communities.

We also had discussions with people working
at the Umingmak Centre and met with Legal
Aid Nunavut. We also had discussions with
the Public Guardian, and the Children’s Aid
Society. We also had discussions with
organizations out-of-territory because the
departments are also dealing with institutions
in the south and Inuit organizations are also
providing services there, so we met with the
Children’s Aid Society of Ottawa, the
Alberta Children’s Service in Alberta, and
the Child and Family Services Authorities in
Winnipeg.

We also had discussions with the Ottawa
Health Service Network. When we visited
communities, we had discussions with
representatives working for the hamlets, so
we had meetings with the senior
administrative officers, and everywhere
where we could, we also visited the
installations or infrastructure they had in
place. We also had interactions with
international organizations and federal
organizations, so we had discussions with an
expert working for the World Health
Organization in the area of child protection,
and we had discussions with researchers
working in the area.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Malliki.

Mr. Malliki (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman and thank you for having met with
many individuals. I’'m proud of the work that
they have done for the need for public care
for Nunavummiut having met with so many
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different organizations and individuals. My
next question will be for the government.
(interpretation ends) While the Family
Wellness Division of the Department of
Family Services has the primary role in
providing support services for children,
youth and vulnerable adults who may require
protection or specialized support, how often
does the department collaborate with staff
from such other departments as Education
and Justice to address the delivery of relevant
programs and services? (interpretation)
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you. This
collaboration is inherent in a response that’s
going to be meaningful to the findings of this
audit.

To your point, the frequency of those
collaborations, I would say, are regular or
monthly. We meet regularly at the DMC
table, and we discuss issues that transcend
our respective departments, but we also
engage with community organizations such
as, like you mentioned, Umingmak Centre.
We work in collaboration with that group of
individuals.

When a child or youth needs to be
interviewed during an investigation of child
abuse or neglect, to date, that organization
has provided assistance to more than 350
children. One of the key pieces to a
responsive action plan to these issues and to
issues that are outside the scope of this audit,
and something that I think we need a lot of
work done on, is that we need to collaborate
with all stakeholders. There needs to be a
common path that we’re all on together to
ensure that not only are specific mandates are
able to be carried out, but to ensure that their
funding envelopes are responsive to their
specific needs to ensure that they have

AYDA*Q ®/LIAC. T CP> D* Lot Cbdd
D> N<Sbc P/ LL 2 NNGALSbe De/LLJC.
L*a.c bLMySb®N=5C

dCa I o ®<yYsbeC®Io APYSob Ld Do >
AbR®CD>N<Ica® NN o,

o> PDIJC 92-0° ALl da Do
bLPY>oTo>Ya®b. CALP Aocnnbdt DRUC

Q. Oa ALY g ACCHNNSINLEN
bLPY>CC>NNJ*aSo<1s*LC.

D>Sbse/LLTLLECD>® NNGSALSC AcndD><ot,
ALLADBULALLS PP<o NNGAJLEC. CALS>
NNSSADC ALLAONNS ARG 5S>,
C2*L o%bbA*a cSc L. sdyal®.

AbY/RPCSe (ONMNJO): Sdy*al™. MC KI5,

LLJS6DS6 (DRANJC): Sdveal™®, Ab/RQDCSH,
NNG%YL <o 10, DSbse/LLLE NNGD>e/LLY
NZAM 2022-T7, DN®NC/5NL
ACH* 55 *La® ASAJA e PN o
ATSOPNIMTT5%GC bLNMYShr<ShbwIre
rdonybo*M o0 5%6C altlhoc DAl
PDRCDN®? Sdyeal™, Ab/DCee,

Ab/RPCSe OLANJC): Sdh®al®. MC HAS

HAAY ORNMNJO): SdY2al™, AbYRPCSS,

AL, P>PC2C PR NP NNGSeLYo® 11,
Db/ LEC ACDY*NCDs®
SHD>ANPC Db SN ANL, 48-%J 5<bA
SOD>ANPCM o Do GeC><HNe PY<lo
CALAScbCeosSLxUSe CdeD*NeDJS, Db >C
ActL*UC. ALY, allo®Ddote CdNes<Nre
SPaIA%a.c DM OJC, PO
SHD>ANSAD>Y b0 LS, Cdac >SN, PATC
CINCNSND>J*Q I Sb>AN®eC o >N C
o D> PG HI®IYC bSO g DL 1P C
Aocnibde, sdytal®, Ab/RPCSe,

A/ <XPCSe OLNNJO): Sdeal®, C NLseDse,

LLJS6DS6 (DRNNJC): Sdyeal™, AbYPC,
NNG®YLdo 9 Dobba® CLLSYLESa<IeN
APLANDCDSLYS® A ocnabd® of Cbdd
Sb>AL D> DN HNC CLLSe/LYSo<INedS. Cbd<

64



capacity to staff their positions, to ensure that
we’re playing a really complementary role in
the way that we discharge our mandates
specific to not one department, but collective
to all departments.

So to answer your question, Sir, collaboration
is happening; it has to happen, it needs to
continue happening, and it needs to be done
through the lens of respect for our diverse
opinions and views, recognizing that we all
have different skills and strengths to bring to
the table, but focusing really together, very
clearly on intentional moves towards positive
change. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Malliki.

Mr. Malliki (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman and I thank you for your response.
(interpretation ends) In October of 2020, the
Minister of Family Services tabled the
Surusinut Ikajuqtigiit Child Abuse and
Neglect Response Agreement, which is
intended to improve coordination of
responses to suspected cases of child abuse
and neglect. To date, how well is this
agreement being implemented?
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Malliki is correct, that agreement is in
place. The agreement does include necessary
work between, not only the Department of
Justice and others, and this goes to that child
abuse response protocol that I discussed
earlier in my response, but in essence, there
is no evaluation framework that defines
whether or not it’s functioning at a suitable
level.

In my view, it again, through collaboration
with these departments and through this
integration assessment that we’ve been
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undergoing at many levels of the department,
not only at the executive levels, but at the
working levels, it’s clear that there’s room
for improvement, but it’s clear that there is a
collective objective of ensuring that its
implementation is meaningful.

I recognize that this agreement is from 2020,
and we’re three years into it, and I again
won’t sit here and purport to provide excuses
to this Committee, but I can say, since |
began my work at the Department of Family
Services, we have been collaborating in a
way that is meaningful and that will result in
the full implementation of this agreement.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. The next name I
have on my list, Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
have a few follow-up questions to Mr.
Malliki, but before I begin, I would like to
note that the last number of years, I’ve been
raising my concerns over the uncoordinated
effort of the Government of Nunavut to meet
its obligations to promote the best interests
for protection and wellbeing of children and
youth, and other vulnerable populations. I
want to thank the current government for
recognizing the crisis situation. I would like
to thank the Office of the Auditor General for
also recognizing the crisis situation. This was
something that I had raised in 2019; the high
rates of child abuse, the significant numbers
of registered sex offenders in the territory,
and the alarmingly high numbers of
registered sex offenders who have
convictions of crimes against children, as
well as the number of high-risk repeat sex
offenders in the territory. I asked the
government of the day to declare the
situation as a crisis given that there are so
many issues that have been identified over
the years, as well as through these OAG
reports, our audits. It wasn’t just me in 2019
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asking the Government of Nunavut to declare
this issue a crisis, but also one of our more
recent Children and Youth representative
televised hearings. The child and youth rep
had also asked the Government of Nunavut
to declare a crisis over this situation.

So after repeated calls to label this a crisis, I
want to thank the current government for
actually doing so. I look forward to seeing a
strategic plan in the coming months that will
have some traction in addressing and
preventing these types of situations.

I would like to follow up on Mr. Malliki’s
last question in relation to the Child Abuse
and Neglect Response Agreement that was
tabled in October of 2020. I had raised my
concern over this recently in question period,
specifically that although this agreement does
allow for information sharing between
partners, social workers, educators,
healthcare professionals and so on, I was
hearing that when children were apprehended
because their safety was at risk, that social
workers were not willing that information
onto school faculty. Teachers and other
school faculty were not aware that the parent
or guardian were not supposed to be in
contact with the child. In addition, when a
registered sex offender is released from
custody from incarceration, they’re given
strict requirements, such as staying 100 feet
away from playgrounds and other areas
where youth congregate, and again, that
valuable information was not being passed
on to school faculty.

In follow-up to the question, I would like to
ask if that portion of the information sharing
in the Child Abuse and Neglect Response
Agreement: one, if social workers in the
Department of Family Services are sharing
that information with school faculty when
children are apprehended; and two, if the
Department of Justice is also sharing that
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information with school faculty when
registered sex offenders with convictions
against children are released into the public
and into a community? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The agreement basically creates a framework
for the reporting that you are describing, Mr.
Lightstone. I would be dishonest if I sat here
and told you that yes, everything is working
perfectly, because I can’t say personally that
I’m aware that it’s working perfectly, but I
can commit to this Committee and to
Nunavummiut, that we will take
collaborative steps to ensure that the spirit
and intent of that agreement is working to the
best that it can.

That’s not the answer that [ want to be
providing to your today, but in the spirit of
transparency and accountability, I recognize
again, that there is a lot of work that we must
do together to strengthen not only our core
mandates, but to embrace these agreements
that have been in place for perhaps far too
long of an implementation period. Mr.
Chairman, that’s my response. Thank you.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Mr. Ellsworth, for that response
and your honesty.

Given the nature of schools and the safe
spaces that they would create for children
and youth, especially those children and
youth who are at risk, I think it’s imperative
that that crucial bit of information gets
passed on to school faculty so that they have
the knowledge they need to ensure the safety
of the children.
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Moving on to my next line of questioning,
it’s going to be to the Department of Health,
again, in follow-up to Mr. Malliki’s question
in relation to the department’s specialized
pediatric services. I would like to thank Ms.
Hunt for providing a detailed response about
all the different initiatives across community
health centres and regional health centres and
at the hospital.

In the past at one of our televised hearings, |
think it might have been with the OAG’s
audit on support for youth and post-
secondary students, one of the issues that
came up was counselling services for youth.
If I recall correctly, at that time, the
Department of Health had indicated that
there were no specialized mental health
workers or psychiatric specialists or
individuals who specialize in treating
children and especially children who have
suffered through abuse and traumatic events.

I would like to ask if the Department of
Health would be able to provide us with an
update on what type of specialized
counselling and other services are available
for children who have experienced child
abuse or other traumatic events. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Hunt.

Ms. Hunt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank
you for the question. Mr. Chairman, if you
will allow, I would like to have ADM
Victoria Madsen, who is our ADM of Mental
Health and Wellness, answer that question.

Chairman: [ knew we would get Ms.
Madsen engaged at this around this time. Ms.
Madsen, please go ahead.

Ms. Madsen: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr.
Lightstone, you’re right; I remember that and
I remember reporting that.
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I do want to say that when we say that there
isn’t a counsellor that specializes in
counselling children, it’s not to say that we
don’t have counsellors and therapists that are
quite specialized in a general sense. It’s very
important for us in Nunavut to have people
come to work that have a lot of experience in
a lot of different groups. We don’t have the
luxury of people who just specialize in one
area. We ensure that all of our clinicians have
training in this.

One of the things that we have done is the
trauma training symposium. That’s
something that the Mental Health and
Addiction Program did with the Arctic
Children and Youth Foundation. We did it in
‘21 and ‘22 and it’s scheduled again for next
month. That’s very important because we
give very specific training on talking with
youth and children about trauma. That
training, by the way, also helps the staff in
their own work when they’re engaged with
individuals and working through trauma. We
have to keep our staff strong.

Getting back to the children, we also have a
very good relationship with Umingmak that’s
run by the Arctic Children and Youth
Foundation. We do have ongoing support
from a group called Radius. They’re quite
well known internationally for trauma with
children. This group meets with our frontline
staff, including our paraprofessionals, twice a
month and they talk through cases, they give
advice, and they give supervision so that we
can continue to give as much help in territory
as we can. When a child needs more than we
can give, we do work with out-of-territory
services, as you know, and continue
following. That community of practice that
we have developed with this Radius group
and all of our workers together throughout
Nunavut help us continue to learn from each
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other, support each other, and support the
children as best we can.

In summary, we might not have someone
who is always in territory that specializes
with youth, but we’re making sure that
people have the tools to do so. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Ms. Madsen, for your response.
In the past, I have raised my concerns over
the lack of data collection with regard to
child abuse in Nunavut. We know that the
Department of Family Services doesn’t have
a caseload management system to put this
information together, but it’s not just the
Department of Family Services that deals
with these types of investigations.

The Department of Justice and the RCMP are
involved, but at the last I checked, they’re
unable to find that information or get that
information, the number of reported
instances of child abuse in Nunavut. The
courts were unable to put that information
together, the number of individuals convicted
with crimes against children. The last I had
asked, the Department of Health also did not
collate that information, the number of times
health care professionals had to deal with
children who have reported cases of child
sexual abuse.

My next question is: does the Department of
Health now collect that information of how
many times health care professionals are
involved in these types of cases? The second
part of the question: does the Department of
Health ensure that each of these individual
children is referred to specialist counselling
services? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Madsen.
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Ms. Madsen: Whenever someone is referred
to Mental Health and Addictions, we
complete information that does go into a data
system. It would record why the individual
came forward. As you can appreciate,
sometimes people come forward for one
reason and we discover that there are other
issues. I tell you that because it means that
the data we would have is probably
underreported. Yes, we do have data, in
answer to your first question.

In answer to the second, absolutely, if we
know of any child that needs help, we would
connect them with counselling. My DM
mentioned the Healing by Talking program.
That does have a counsellor that deals
specifically with children and this service is
out of territory, but it’s offered virtually.
Though we always try to make sure that
someone sees someone in territory, when we
need to use those kinds of services as well,
there’s a continuum that we would go
through.

If you remember the paraprofessionals, one
of those positions is youth facilitator, so
again, extra training and making sure that
children have someone to talk to. You can
see a continuum of different services that we
would give the child, what they’re ready for,
what they’re willing to engage in, and things
like that. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Madsen. Before
I go to my next name on the list, ’'m going to
recognize the clock and we will break for
lunch, returning at 1:30 with Ms. Killiktee,
who will have questions. Thank you.

>>Committee recessed at 11:54 and
resumed at 13:27

Chairman: [ would like to call the
committee meeting back to order. We’re here
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to discuss the Office of the Auditor General’s
Report on Family Services. The next name |

have on my list under paragraphs 1 through 8
is Ms. Killiktee.

Ms. Killiktee (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. I have several questions, not
that many, regardless they intersect with the
foundation hereby I wish to pose this
question. It was partially referenced in earlier
questions, nonetheless, I want to be clear in
my understanding of this matter, hence my
verbosity and request for in-depth details
related to this matter. It is completely tied
into this matter that I have witnessed in past
work, which I want to clearly understand
here.

This speaks to this matter referenced prior to
this question as members asked questions on
it, specific to the Department of Health
regarding youth and children. I wish to ask
my question specifically to earlier
commentary related to our youth and the
health concerns they have. We seem to be
focussing entirely on that, so I wish to
advocate this specific issue.

The Qikiqtani General Hospital where they
maybe diagnosed with mental health issues,
and I want to ask about this discrepancy
when youth are not feeling comfortable,
related to the Qikigtani General Hospital,
what happens during that procedure and what
steps are taken when the youth is
incarcerated in that place?

It’s like they’re taken into custody and taken
to a safe room as far as I can ascertain. I wish
to hear more details on the operational issues
related to this aspect of their mandate over
our youth, what is included, what is needed,
for example, why are our youth treated like
felons? This is my question, to ensure all
these hidden aspects are brought to the
surface.
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Mr. Chairman, if I’'m out of line, please let
me know. Nevertheless, my question relates
to the areas where these young people seem
to be taken into custody and a guard
stationed outside of their room. They’re
usually referred from the smaller
communities to the general hospital.

Is that the proper way to deal with a mental
patient or how do you deal with those types
of cases? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. As the scope of the
audit deals with that subject matter, I will
allow the question under the introduction. I
think it does warrant a response. Ms.
Madsen, please go ahead.

Ms. Madsen: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I’'m
going to be honest; I agree with you. It does
feel like they’re brought into custody and it’s
not the best. I’'m going to talk about the
assessment process, what it is today, and
what it is we hope to do.

When a youth or child is brought to the
hospital for assessment and if it does look
like they are a harm to themselves or others,
they are brought to a safe room. You’re
correct. The security outside the safe room
gives the feeling of custody. It gives the
feeling of negative. We would like to change
that. We have done different things over the
years trying to replace security guards. We
do need someone there to ensure safety, but
what we’re trying to do is change the idea
from security to someone more clinical. It
has been difficult. I don’t want to repeat staff
shortages as an excuse. We’re looking at, at
least having security wear plain clothes if we
can’t get more staff outside these rooms.

Back to the assessments, the youth or child is
assessed by a mental health nurse and we
also have access to a mental health doctor
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like a psychiatrist, and if we can’t give the
best service in Nunavut, we do have to
transfer the child or youth out of territory.
We do need an escort and we try to go to
places that understand Inuit culture.

We try to send family as escorts. We try to
get the child back as soon as we can. We try
to communicate to people, but I will agree
that the feeling of custody is a negative one
and we need to work a little harder so that the
child doesn’t feel that. I hope that answers
your question. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Madsen. Ms.
Killiktee.

Ms. Killiktee (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. I appreciate that, and
Minister, you stated earlier in your verbal
response that various means of safety
provision measures were attempted or tried
for that person or individual.

Again, I would like to direct my question to
the Department of Family Services or maybe
not. Perhaps I should direct my question to
the Office of the Auditor General.

On page 6, my question relates to the report
submitted by the Office of the Auditor
General. I believe that this requires going
through an administrative process. As Inuit,
we have no literary based historic cultural
events, only oral. It’s entirely based on an
oral historical anecdotal knowledge dispersal
method.

Nothing is written down in many
communities and this creates a problem due
to Inuit being an orally knowledge-based
culture. While documenting your findings, I
imagine that you were required to provide
literature or written material for the facts.
How does the audit process work? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Hayes.

Mr. Hayes: Thank you for the question. You
are correct that in our audit work we look for
evidence and a lot of the times we are
looking documents; evidence that has been
captured on paper or in a computer system,
but equally important for our work is
interviews and speaking to people that have
been doing the work. In some cases, that will
be department officials. In other cases, it
might be the community social service
workers.

As we went through our audit, we asked for
information in evidence. We asked to
interview people that had experience in
dealing with these children and we did not
get evidence that showed that the work had
been done to follow up and to have face to
face meetings with the children and youth
that we had been looking at in the sample;
the case files that we had selected to look at.

I want to make an important clarification
here: we know that the social workers were
often temporary employees. There might
have been a lot of turnover, and indeed there
was a lot of turnover. We don’t want to stand
here and criticize or critique the social
workers for the incredible work that they do,
but when we are asking the department about
the work that they have done to make sure
that these children are safe, there isn’t
anything for us to go on to see that there has
been the follow-ups and check-ins.

For us, I think the important point that we
want to make looking forward is that there
needs to be information that gets passed on
from the social worker to the next social
worker, or from the social worker to the
health professional who helps these children
so that there is a continuity of care, that there
is a string of care that helps the child or the
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family, or the community make sure that
everything is moving well. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Killiktee.

Ms. Killiktee (interpretation): That statement
is entirely true. We are aware of our need for
proper procedures specific to toddlers or
younger children, along with vulnerable
young people; our fellow Inuit, and this
requires further exploration to ensure that
steps required to be implemented are fully
felt and respected.

This has to be on top of the list of our
priorities, and here I wish to move sideways
or laterally to this matter, actually, prior to
making this segue, perhaps, Mr. Chairman,
with your discretion, I can (interpretation
ends) comment on (interpretation) on this
issue unrelated to our discussion, but still
short and succinct.

I ought to have commented earlier at the start
of this committee hearing, nonetheless, we
must ensure that an Inuktitut copy of the
document becomes available shortly therein.
If this report is specified as required to be in
Inuktitut along with these accompanying
documents, I wish to see both the English
and Inuktitut copies accompanying the
substantiations since we represent Inuit in
Nunavut.

I want to ensure that all official languages are
respected, recognized, and appreciated when
providing such documentation. This
substantiation sheet was unavailable in
Inuktitut such as the one I am waving here.
Okay, I have it here. That is fortunate.
Regardless, for the others, I am very pleased
that these are available. I also want to request
that if your department is contracting out any
auditing work, to provide corresponding
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Inuktitut documents since our constituents
must understand the issues we are debating.

Mr. Chairman, I would like to move onto the
next department, specifically (interpretation
ends) to the Department of Human
Resources, (interpretation) and I am unsure if
this query was submitted by colleagues
towards this matter prior to my questions
because [ was distracted. (interpretation
ends) I just want to go ahead and ask these
questions that relate to the audit that found
that the Department of Family Services made
unsatisfactory progress in ensuring ongoing
human resource capacity to fulfill its
mandate. To what extent has the Department
of Human Resources reviewed their progress
in supporting the Department of Family
Services in respect to the Auditor General’s
findings from the office’s 2014 report?
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Killiktee. Ms.
Cronin.

Ms. Cronin: I will defer to my colleague on
that one.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Onalik.

Mr. Onalik (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) The
Department of Human Resources works to
support the Department of Family Services in
meeting their capacity needs, and I think we
have all recognized since this audit was
brought forward that we all need to do a
better job. There are two parts of how
capacity is addressed, and one of them is the
department making sure that the structures
and the positions are being put out to
competition. Then on the flip side, it is the
Department of Human Resources that helps
get those competitions out. Something that
we have been very excited about since this
report was that the Department of Human

D>d<d Ab<¥P%a SoSb®ILoC, Co L
DSbSYULE L. AAPINNSbSa<IT<*L
aN>N*L 14-P5D>ds 16-1C NPT oJ.

OLANUC) Codd DSbPYA N Atba ALNC
A€Ca >N CCADSo™NC. b>De_CCP>PLC
CAb DEYRC IDA%a PeNCHALLLC
drodico?, 4Co<dAC a <O o,
Ac®o<%Dcnabdt Cedd odeNREc<INHNe
ACNESHECHNEDC oh 5o Ao <\ >a.
CLeaSbA 0@ 2¢ LRLYIC A *.of
Dsb>YAL>ILR D> on<da eIl CNCH>beCia e
CAbI< A%ba ALPAC? Sdy*al® AbYRPCSe,

Ab/QPCSe (OLNANJO): sdyal™. [ HeC,

H<2c OLANJO): SdY*al™ AbYRPCS,
Sdy*al“HC> LoD JAnLAC CALL. A,
AINC, 4o dPCAC AP PPN ILC
DINLD>o PN D>NCNRNDIo? <GCa<dia®.
Ca eIMSda Nt <o <A <IeIAC <L 5CCPSe
A®ba AY®NC A€Ca Il Sda e, Cta
Ac*NCCb, AL HCPSe SboA HPIbSaGALLS
AJIEDbSTGALLC
D>obbcP>N<SHNCNHCTYIC G*a<dda<
LcP<5bSbeC®IAC NNGA<SbSbeCseINC
Sb.0AHPIHTGAKE,

PUo<dJ D Acn<ysbeC®INe, Ca

G dAC<®TIAC CALAAICCH®IAC QL SECH>
4o AT GC PEg 5PN C
bbb c_*aPNP. ASba AXN*Lc
AFLPEONE, ASba AN oS AbdNCNea
<P TYAC QL HOCPse QP eg®
ARCNGP>No DO Acn’™<~Nag®

AbY®C>U*Q SbCCTNC QL P

Aba AY®°Icnpbd® o DRJC Acnd*LC
Y Co Ab¥SCP><*a S<C, SboADMoP>o>L
AJOODMo>< LS. sdyeal® AbYRDCE,

Ab/<PCSe (ONMNJC): Sdy>al™.
P>GCCGHdoc b G a<d®CAccnNbde M of
Dac A A LGCS®I LRLdE Acnd*"C
ACPIDENED® b NSHNN<LLLLC
Aocnerbd®c ActoddcnprbdocHeac
D>sb>sbeDNe. PACNT D5 eN>HCs*LC
A®ba AL®eNDC QL SCCH CLea
DSb>ZP>ILIRNDLOdebA? C Dac®.

78



Resources a few months ago worked towards
finding contract staffing companies who have
helped us accelerate competitions.

So it is my understanding that through the
contracted resources that were available to
Family Services, they have gone out and
we’re in a competition for social workers and
with a really high uptake on that. I think
overall, we recognize it is not just looking at
one department individually, but we need the
Department of Human Resources to grow at
the same time the Department of Family
Services grows so they can match the support
there. I hope that answers the question. We
have really focused on providing short-term
contract resources to the Department of
Family Services to allow for increased
staffing. (interpretation ends) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. I believe Ms. Hunt
wanted to supplement the response as well.
Am [ correct?

Ms. Hunt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman and
thank you to the Member for the question. |
definitely agree my colleague’s comments. [
would just add a couple of other things that |
think are helpful in terms of some of the
progress that has been made over the last
while.

Many of you will recall when Health was
here in the House not that long ago, that the
critical staffing measures and putting into
action a plan around recruitment, retention of
health care professionals, mental health
nurses, nurses, and all areas of group five,
but specifically, when we think about this
conversation, the role of health care
professionals working in an integrated way.
So being able to create that area of retention
of our hard-working staff, and our ability to
recruit the right staff at the right time with
the right skills has been a significant focus
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because we know continuity and stability of
staff is what really is going to create the
foundation of relationships and trust so that
as children and families access services, they
are able to do that without telling their story
over again and be able to receive the right
service.

Also, the nursing road map, where we’ve
engaged deeply with health care
professionals to understand what we are
doing well and where we need to improve.
Being able to look at the safety and the
culture of the workplace that our staff work
in is important, so that also is a critical
measure and step that has been taken as we
roll out that around education, training,
retention, but also leadership and making
sure people have the knowledge, tools, and
oversight to do their jobs effectively to
ensure the safety and wellbeing and health of
Nunavummiut. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you for that response. I'm
sure that we will have some more detailed
questions when we get to the staffing section
as well. Ms. Killiktee.

Ms. Killiktee (interpretation): Thank you for
clearly explaining this complex aspect, and I
appreciate your efforts to enable my
comprehension of this process, and in
understanding this better, I would like to now
ask if what you responded with related to
recruiting and contractual term
emplacements, yes, hiring term contractors.

My next question relates to available
positions whether these are permanent
positions, or temporary placements that are
available, and ask if this example can be
incorporated into a coherent response on
whether or not this distinction is applicable,
and this is my additional question to you.
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When promoting specific positions,
regardless of these positions being permanent
or causal positions, how does that apply
towards our social worker position
advertisements? The people training to
become social workers has been increasing
exponentially over the past several years.
Have any investigations been undertaken to
see whether this can be amalgamated and
additional to the present criteria requiring
social workers to be bilingual in both
Inuktitut and English?

Maybe I’'m talking a bit outside of what
we’re supposed to be asking about, so I'll
stop here for now. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Killiktee. We do
have an opportunity later on to get deeper
into the recruitment and retention and the
training component.

Just for the viewing audience and just for the
record, the Inuktitut interpretations or
translations of the opening comments are
already available on the Assembly website.
The report is on there in Inuktitut as well.

I will move on to my next name: Ms.
Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you for recognizing
me again, Mr. Chairman. I hope that you will
indulge me in the next couple of questions
because I do realize that we will be talking
about information management later on.
However, Madam Cotnoir, in an earlier
response, indicated a number of different
organizations that were interviewed as part of
this review. I'm really curious about whether
or not any of those organizations were able to
present any data on children in care in
Nunavut, whether or not there are any
organizations that are collecting any data on
those children and of course, whether or not,
to their knowledge, is there a national
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database or a national child abuse and neglect
database system that could also be fed in to
provide information to inform this process
because we know that collecting and
analyzing data to measure and verify the
effectiveness of services helps organizations
to make informed policy decisions towards
improving outcomes for children and
families? We know that Nunavut is
struggling with collecting data, or Family
Services particularly. However, I don’t have
a clear understanding of whether or not there
are organizations within Nunavut or outside
of Nunavut that are collecting data on these
very important children. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Cotnoir.

Ms. Cotnoir: Thank you for your question.
First of all, the responsibility for collecting
data on the services provided to children in
Nunavut is really within the Department of
Family Services. It’s not the responsibility of
other organizations, so it is very important
that they take that task very seriously. It is
very important that they know what the
needs are and what kind of services are
provided, when and how.

We did not have discussions on data on
children that are taken care of by other
organizations, for example in the south.
However, our office does not have an audit
mandate to audit that data, so usually we
cannot use that kind of information, and also
there were some confidentiality issues that
they had deal with in those organizations.
They do not share their data with external
organizations. That is why we could not use
that type of information. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Hayes, you
wanted to supplement?
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Mr. Hayes: Yes, thank you. Just to signal
that Statistics Canada sometimes has
information that can be helpful to get a
picture of many of the questions that you
raised. I want to emphasize the point that Ms.
Cotnoir mentioned; the importance if
confidentiality, particularly in light of the
sensitive information that we were dealing
with in this audit, has to always be kept in
mind. These are really difficult situations for
children, families, but I think the point that
your raising is an important one.

As has been mentioned throughout this
hearing so far, it is a whole-of-government
approach that we are talking about and that
we are emphasizing. [ think some of the other
witnesses have mentioned a whole-of-
Nunavut approach and everybody needs to be
engaged. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
very much appreciate those responses. I
wonder if the Office of the Auditor General
could share with us some advice or examples
about ways to ensure that, especially if you
take... . We know that there are interagency
issues and there are interdepartmental issues.
Is it possible to ensure that within the
programs and services provided by this
territorial government, that they can share
information at least interdepartmentally, in
order to provide better services? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Hayes.

Mr. Hayes: Thank you. I am not an expert
on the privacy legislation that applies here in
the territory, but I can share that when we
look at the audit work that we do federally, I
might put it this way: when somebody
interacts with government, they don’t really
often think about the fact that there might be
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barriers to sharing information about the
services that they want. Often, you have a
person that wants a one-stop shop who can
get all the services that they need in an
integrated way from government. We see that
in the federal government, and we see that in
the territorial governments that we audit.

What does that mean? In practice, it means
that if there are barriers to sharing
information across departments, sometimes
even within departments, those need to be
broken down. That might need a legislative
solution. That is something that members of
the government might be able to answer a
little bit more. When we come across those
challenges to sharing information that
compromise or put in question the services
and outcomes for people, we will raise those.
That is probably the best answer I can give
you on that question. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. I am sure, again, we
will get into that a little it later on. I know
one thing that was discussed at our
Committee meeting was the interagency
coordinator protocols and how they are being
implemented that was created in 2015, so just
to give the government officials, there will be
questions coming along down the pike on
that one.

The next name I have on my list is Mr.
Sammurtok.

Mr. Sammurtok (interpretation): Thank
you, Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends)
This is a question to the Auditor General. In
paragraph 9 of your report, it states that your
early findings during the audit were
alarming. Can you provide further details on
why you felt it important to immediately
bring your concerns to the department’s
attention? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman: Thank you. My Co-Chair just
nudged me along to the next section, and I
did not have any more names under
paragraphs 1 through 8, so just to confirm
with Committee Members that there are no
more questions under that line. We will
proceed to paragraphs 9 through 16. Mr.
Hayes.

Mr. Hayes: Thank you very much, Mr.
Chairman. Right off the bat I have to say that
it is unusual that we would write a letter to
the department while we are in the course of
doing an audit work. For the most part, in
normal circumstances, the Legislative
Assembly would be the first to receive our
findings when they are finalized and it would
come in the form of a report. However, in
cases where there are serious health and
safety concerns, we have done this before. I
think the last example for us where we have
done this was in a federal audit where we
were looking at temporary foreign workers
and the living conditions that they were
experiencing both before and during COVID.
They involved health and safety and we
wrote a letter to the federal Deputy Minister
in that case.

In this case we are dealing with some of the
most vulnerable people in the territory; the
children and youth who need support and
protection, and we found 92 cases that we
had concerns about. We wanted to make sure
that the department had the information that
we had already identified that it could act on
immediately. | must say, as [ mentioned
before, when we write these letters it is a big
step for us to do that and we expect that the
department takes it very seriously and acts
immediately. [ will stop there, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Sammurtok.

Mr. Sammurtok: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

In paragraph 10 it says that you sent a letter
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in December 2022 to inform the department
of' a number of concerns with respect to the
lack of evidence that cases of neglect and
abuse have been investigated and gaps in
case management and supervision. Were you
satisfied with the department’s response?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Hayes.

Mr. Hayes: Thank you. We weren’t satisfied
with the response. As we mentioned in
paragraph 11, there were a number of cases
that were not followed up on and in 48
percent of the cases, while the department
said that there was follow-up that had been
done, we didn’t evidence to support the
statements that were made. We wouldn’t
have been looking for perfect evidence. If we
are going to be honest, we recognize how
difficult these cases can be to follow up on
and the work that faces the community social
service workers, but we would have expected
to see evidence showing that the follow-up
and the screening had been done by the
department. I’1l stop there, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Sammurtok.

Mr. Sammurtok: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
This is going to the government witnesses. In
paragraph 9 of the report, the Auditor
General indicates that the concerns were
brought to the attention of the department
without delay following the early findings of
the audit. What steps did the department take
to address these immediate concerns? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman
and thank you, Sir, for your question. As I
mentioned earlier in a similar question, and
as the Auditor General’s office has pointed
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out, in order to satisfy their inquiries around
the status of file work and the need to follow
up, some form of evidentiary-based
document should have been provided at the
relevant time. As I was not there at the
material time of the receipt of that letter, I
can’t speak to why that course of action was
not followed. I am advised that, and I think
the Auditor General has pointed out, that
they’ve received confirmation that follows-
ups had been conducted.

I think I can honestly state for this
Committee that that’s an insufficient
response to an Auditor General’s early
findings. In my view, immediate steps ought
to have been taken to ensure the status of
every single one of those files, and a proper
response proffered to the management letters
that were tendered in December of 2022.

I can say that since I arrived, I have received
evidence that all matters were followed up on
and the appropriate steps were taken
following the response by previous
departmental officials.

Mr. Sammurtok, I hope that answers your
question, but as I stated earlier, since then,
the department has undertaken a wholescale
review of all of its clients and ensured that
their statuses are compliant with the
legislative obligations articulated within the
Child and Family Services Act and standards
and procedures manuals. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Just before I go back
to Mr. Sammurtok, Mr. Ellsworth, you had
mentioned that you were satisfied with the
information and documentation that was
provided to you on the follow up to the files
in question. In your opinion, do you feel that
that information that you received would
have also satisfied the Office of the Auditor
General, and are you aware if that
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information was shared with the Office of the
Auditor General after you received that
information? Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
would suspect it would have satisfied their
needs in the sense that it identified exactly
the course of action that specific social
workers took with respect to those files. I
would have shared that information, and
certainly I would have taken advice with
respect to the veracity or the validity of that
response at the time. Mr. Chairman, thank
you.

Chairman: Thank you for that. Mr.
Sammurtok.

Mr. Sammurtok: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
This is going to the government witnesses.
Paragraph 11 of the audit report indicates that
the Office of the Auditor General identified
possible follow-up actions, including face-to-
face follow-up with the young people
involved in the cases to address concerns
raised. How often are face-to-face follow-ups
conducted as part of the department’s
procedures? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Sammurtok. Mr.
Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
As I understand it, the standards and
procedures require one face-to-face contact
with children receiving services and their
family at least once per month. Children need
to be seen physically by the social worker. At
least every second visit ought to be in the
home if they are in a situation of a voluntary
support agreement or a plan of care
agreement.

One private contact with the child or children
receiving services should be conducted every
two months in the case of ongoing safety

APYRDC® A ocndbde PobbPa PN
SHCYIPNLLE<LE CLbd< SPISPo DL
ASba ALPNGb DBCHRK? A ocndbd o
P>L>JaPL. Sdycal®.

AbYRPCSe (ONANJO): Sdb2al™, Y 2PDS, A,
CL%a 0%b<“cd¥0¢ JA®ADCP aT*,
CALASIM@ %< CALADCda G5LC
ACHBPN"D> LRLLdC

Aba AYSANIR>G PR DL ed® 5Ne, C
ADNDLE,

AP OLNANJO): Sdy*al™, Ab/RPCSe,
DPYL<dC KSGJCLE AcncNrRegne
SPISPLD>SbeC<sbAYU*LC AStba AL, CAL
AStba AYSoa AR“c</Lo*c Cla
ADBCPTLNIC LeLeDSALT M AredNJe
P DY > b 5<% 5C 5 AN RCDC
DPIPNNL*Q eCDC AALPCSNJC

A®b®IAI o,

DPPYLD*Le ASPbIANC AP o
ASba AL CLbda *LC
<SaPNcP>SbeCsde e,

Aa AN UG HASLAC S
SPrPJND>JeaSo<seDoC. CALACSHE™LE A ob
ASba Abn b of a U< c<IJLA?

SgCN oo o< <qJ*Q P AC Sbo%

AbIP*Q ®ANJC Ao << <INA®Q Sd<HN®?
AR ST SbeY<Sd<oNg? DARAIM @ eI 5<%
Aocnprbd*o® APLo*Lo®.

AcDSbCc PG H®D M, PY<lo

AcPyD>ec <CcPL CALY onDeo*Lo DN
Dsbeb>LL <SaP>NDC, <SaP>NsbH<eg<sLC
A*PSGEILPNNT L <Sa >ND<
PAICYIPNNRECS 5 AbI®IAYIG HLSL*LC
ASba Ab®No® DGLNSLLT of PY<o
birY<IPNNLC <SaPNc<Uss. sdyeal®,
Ab/RPCSe,

Ab/QPCSe (DLNNJO): Sdv>al™®, ™
>PN)S—_je D Pegea, MC Dach
PD>LA%Q PLLTLLECDS, TNC Dac®.

Pact OLNNNJO): sdy*al®, Ab/RPCSe,
Q*PSHbNNLLALS HJ*NCS OGS ASha ALPNDC,

88



concerns. Families believed to be in need of
protection, but where children remain in the
home under some form of care agreement,
one face-to-face contact with the child or
children at risk with their family once per
month, and the children need to be seen
individually and separately at least every
second visit, and one private contact with the
children outside of the home every six
weeks. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Sammurtok.

Mr. Sammurtok: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

This is going to the Auditor General. In
paragraph 11 of the report, it states that 47
cases were identified for follow-up and your
office identified possible follow-up actions
the department could consider. The
department’s response of March 2023
provided information on the action it took to
respond to concerns raised. What kind of
supporting evidence did you anticipate
receiving to demonstrate that the follow-up
had occurred? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman
and thank you for the question. As we noted
in the report, we did see that the department
had written that they had responded in
various forms on a case-by-case basis, but
there was also documentation. The standards
and the procedures, for example, speak to
risk assessments, screening reports, and
investigation reports, that we would have
either had asked for because we didn’t see
them in the file. That was the type of
information, if you will; the documentation.

As we do note though, there was some form
of response, but it did vary by community.
Again, it really was more on the
documentary evidence side and the types of
documents that they do produce in the course
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of looking at referrals and following up on
the referrals. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Just before I go back
to Mr. Sammurtok, I just want to remind
Committee Members we are on paragraphs 9
through 16, the Early Findings section. Mr.
Sammurtok.

Mr. Sammurtok: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Auditor General, in paragraph 12 it states
that the department’s response did not
alleviate your unease about the safety and
well-being of the children and youth you had
identified. What were your main concerns?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Hayes.

Mr. Hayes: Thank you. Our main concerns
were that we did not see the roots of systemic
changes, the transformational changes that
we would have wanted to see, whether it was
the follow-ups that were supposed to be
conducted or the actions happening within
the timeframes that the Deputy Minister has
just mentioned.

As mentioned, we have more than 52 percent
of the cases here that had not had the follow-
ups completed by the time that we finished
drafting our report. That was a long time. For
us, what we had hoped to see was that these
children had had reasonable follow up, that
the consistent contact was happening, and
that the department was able to show that the
children that needed additional protection
were getting it, and additional support were
getting it. Where everything was working
okay, they were back in the regular process
of contact every month or two months as
required.

I am hopeful that this report will bring those
kinds of changes forward. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.
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Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Sammurtok.

Mr. Sammurtok: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
This is going to the Government of Nunavut.
Page 3 of the Auditor General’s report
includes the breakdown of information
provided by the Office of the Auditor
General regarding follow-up activities in
response to concerns raised in the early
stages of the audit. Why was no information
provided for the 19 percent of the cases
addressed? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It
is my understanding that they either did not
have the ability to provide information about
these follow-ups or they did not in fact
follow up. Again, as I mentioned earlier, the
standard of proof, in my view, is evidence-
based in nature. Like the Auditor General’s
office recently mentioned, they needed to see
some tangible sort of information that would
lead to a confirmation that these follow-ups
had actually taken place.

I cannot speak to why the administration of
the day did not provide any information
about its follow-up on the children or youth
in question, but I can confirm that all of these
matters have been followed-up since then.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Sammurtok.

Mr. Sammurtok: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Still going to the government department;
paragraph 12 of the report states that the
department needs to introduce long-term and
sustainable improvements to its process of
responding to reports of suspected child
abuse. To date, what steps have been taken to
develop and introduce major changes to this
process and how will you evaluate if those
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changes are effective? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Mr. Sammurtok. There are a few
pieces that would respond to your inquiry
around what we are going to do to introduce
long-term and sustainable improvements.

The initial piece, of course, is actually
ensuring that the current standards are being
upheld and so that is the immediate or the
short-term response. Recognizing that there
is clear evidence in the report that articulates
a serious records management concern on the
part of the department, I believe there is
reference to the fact that it doesn’t even meet
GN policy on records management, and it
certainly doesn’t meet the protections
standards set out in the Access to Information
and Protection of Privacy Act.

What this tells us as leaders now, Sandy and
I, at the Department of Family Services, is
that in addition to not only ensuring that
standards and procedures are being carried
out in the intervening time, that in the long
term, we need to introduce revised standards
and procedures that speak to clearer direction
around what record keeping means; what is
expected of staff. In addition, record keeping
is not bold, as the Auditor General’s office
mentioned earlier. Record keeping isn’t a
bold initiative, so I can’t characterize it as
such, but what we have to do is step back and
recognize that right now, social workers, in
addition to keeping written notes, they also
are required to file them in, I think, three or
four different file sharing frameworks, if you
will. What this creates is of course
unnecessary redundancy, but it also creates
extra work when they need to be focusing on
providing services to children and youth.
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However, recognizing that this is not an
excuse, [ am just trying to contextualize the
question or our response. The long-term
solution, Sir, involves not only the
streamlining and revision of practice
standards, but also the implementation of the
software solution I described in my opening
comments. Parts of this software solution
right now, we hope to have launched in the
fall very soon. Right now, we are engaged in
what is called “user acceptance testing,” so
we have many members of our team
currently using the software solution to
ensure that it responds to the records
management and privacy needs of the
organization. In parallel to that, we are also
undergoing what is called a “privacy impact
assessment.” This assessment is a
requirement of the Access to Information and
Protection of Privacy Act as it pertains to
new software solutions that the government
intends to implement.

Taken together with the immediate action of
directing staff to compliance, ensuring that
there is oversight in the compliance regime,
developing a longer-term solution with
respect to where this critical information can
be stored in one place and accessible by
several members of the practice team, there
is also a side piece of this in the sense that
there is a point in the Auditor General’s
report where we are discussing right now,
referrals were not followed up, investigations
were not followed up, they were not closed,
and plans of care were not issued. This
system also envisions a tickler, so that as a
soon as a referral is entered, then it will tickle
to the next level of oversight and that person
will be responsible for ensuring that that file
continuity or process is undertaken in a way
that aligns with the standards and procedures
that we are developing in parallel to the
implementation of the software solution. Mr.
Chairman, thank you. I believe that responds
to the inquiry.
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Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ellsworth. There
was a component at the end of Mr.
Sammurtok’s question on the evaluation on
the effectiveness of some of these measures.
Maybe if you could elaborate a little bit on
that, Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Certainly, Mr. Chairman,
and apologies for the oversight. Like I had
mentioned earlier, and I think I have
expressed with my colleagues and with
stakeholders, is that this software solution is
one small component of a very broad and
encompassing strategic plan. I think where
we get caught up often times is that there is
no evaluation metric. I called it, early in my
advocacy days if you will, analysis paralysis.
We looked at the issue, we defined plans, but
we never actually implement them or
measure whether or not we are successful.

So I can’t speak to the details of an
evaluation framework for you right now, Mr.
Chairman, but what I can say is it perhaps
one of the most important components of our
strategic response in the sense of not only
defining what we are going to do to ensure
that this reality ceases as soon as it can, but
ensuring that it is meaningful, sustainable,
measurable, and that we can use the data
points arising from that to report back to this
Committee and to the House, but also to
inform decisions at the management-level
about whether or not we need to take steps to
change course in the sense of that evaluation
tool should tell us early on this isn’t going to
work, or this isn’t working and we need to
pivot.

A really important part of the evaluation
framework from my perspective is our
collaboration with the Auditor General’s
team in the sense that we want them to tell us
and come in and say “No, no, guys this is
going to work, but this small piece you need
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to rethink and this is why you need to rethink
it.”

It is so important in the sense of being open
to that critical and constructive criticism to
make sure that our data management, our
record keeping, and most importantly, the
way that we interact with children is above
standard and has a quality and character that
meets the needs of the children that we are
here to serve. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ellsworth. Mr.
Malliki.

Mr. Malliki (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. My question is for the Auditor
General. (interpretation ends) Paragraph 14
notes that your office issued a second letter
to the department in March 2023 with respect
to the health and safety of the department’s
employees. What specific information was
collected in that early stage of the audit that
identified an issue? (interpretation) Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Madame Cotnoir.

Ms. Cotnoir: Thank you, Mr. Chairman and
thank you for the question. Through
interviews we learned that there were
concerns about health and safety issues in the
Department of Family Services, and that
there were incidents involving the security of
staff and that staff had experienced drastic
situations and had not necessarily received
the support needed to help them recover.
That is why we also looked at what system
and programs were in place to support the
staff and help recruit the staff because this
could also have an impact on retention of
staff.

We found that there were key elements
missing; key elements that are required by
the Nunavut Safety Act or the occupational
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health and safety regulations. There were no
health and safety programs in place, and no
work doing occupational health and safety
committee at the department-level. There
was no departmental health and safety
representative in the local offices of the
department, and there were no workplace
violence policies in place. Those are all very
important elements of health and safety
programs. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Malliki.

Mr. Malliki (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. We are concerned about our
government employees and we should
support them to be in a safe environment. My
question is to the government: have these
been implemented by the department? Thank
you.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Mr. Chairman, if I might, for
this response to my colleague, Ms. Sandy
Kownak, the Associate Deputy Minister,
please.

Chairman: Thank you. We’ll just go
through the Chair first, Ms. Kownak. I would
like to thank Ms. Kownak for being a
witness. This is the last one being called
upon. Please proceed.

Ms. Kownak (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. We do not want our staff
working in a toxic environment, but currently
we have many case files within our
Department of Family Services, to work on
office procedures or protocols followed to
allow for a safe environment, and we are
working on that at this time.

Furthermore, another aspect is related to
considering the heavy workload of our
employees based on the emotional stresses
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faced by our social workers. As an example,
there is telephone support available from
other counsellors who can provide the
emotional support required, and further,
another program we offer is based on this
new position that will offer support services
for our employees undergoing turmoil or
extreme emotional stresses, or if they are at
risk.

This is another service we are working to
provide, along with the office procedures
towards that, as well, this new position to be
created will specifically be for risk
management services, or those that require
further support for this position of an
(interpretation ends) occupational health and
safety coordinator (interpretation) and this is
the position we are working to fill currently.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Malliki.

Mr. Malliki (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman and thank you for that response.
They do need our support. This question is
for the Auditor General. (interpretation ends)
Paragraph 15 indicates that the department
does not have a system to collect and manage
occupational health and safety incident
reports. Did the audit identify how this
information is currently recorded?
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Madam Cotnoir.

Ms. Cotnoir: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for the question. When we ask for
the incident reports that involved the safety
of staff during our audit period, we were told
that they were not managed at headquarters
and we were asked to ask the regional
director, but the regional director would have
the copy of the report that they were
responsible for, but they would not
necessarily have the incident report that had
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been produced while other regional directors
were in the position.

So we have no idea how many incident
reports had to be produced and were
produced during our audit period. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Malliki.

Mr. Malliki (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. For the planning work, and here I
am querying our government officials; when
you are undertaking a planning exercise
without knowing the exact number of
employees who faced risks in their official
capacity, or if any abuse occurred, how can
this plan be prepared properly to face these
challenges if we do not have current reports
outlining the types of incidents faced? I
would like that answered first. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
You raise a valid point, Sir. In order to be
able to adequately service the needs of our
very important frontline staff, we need to
know the challenges that they experience on
a daily basis.

As the Auditor General correctly pointed out,
currently there is no mechanism by which
incidents find their way to the people in the
chairs of those who make decisions. The
response to this as an interim measure has
been an informal reporting mechanism so
that we know when things are happening on
the ground, but the longer-term, recognizing
that that is not sufficient long-term and
sustainable approach, we have done a
number of things to sort of address this that
will be a part of the strategic plan. We take
their wellbeing and safety very importantly.
We need to be cognizant of the fact that
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we’re not dealing with the frontline realities
that they are dealing with. We are not seeing
the things that our social workers are seeing.

To respond to this very critical aspect of the
report, first, we have engaged with a
dedicated counselling service so that our
colleagues have access to resources that are
trauma-informed and equipped to resolve
trauma at the outset of their engagement in
critical incidents. There are debriefing
opportunities and such. It doesn’t speak to
the critical incident reporting that is required.
We are in our early stages in the
development of an occupational health and
safety program and a workplace violence
prevention strategy. This strategy needs to do
two things; it needs to not only identify ways
that conflict can be resolved when it happens
as between our colleagues, but it also has to
be front-facing in a sense of how do
colleagues address their own safety when it
comes to situations where they may find
themselves in a conflict that is escalating to a
potentially violent situation.

We don’t have data to support this review
and so the second part or third part of this is
the communication strategy that I spoke to
lightly earlier, in the sense that creating
information pathways so that we know at the
executive-levels exactly what is happening
on the frontlines and so that we can engage
our partnerships within the department or the
government and other stakeholders to ensure
that their safety can managed in a very
appropriate way.

Again, we have engaged external support to
define what this program looks like and it
will be built on through engagement with our
colleagues and external stakeholders. We are
well underway in that process. As an
oversight mechanism, we have also had
initial discussions with the Workers Safety
and Compensation Commission to ensure
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that whatever program we define is inline
with the Safety Act and it does respond
adequately and meaningfully to the safety
needs of not only our staff, but our clients
and the interconnectedness of the work that
we do in the community. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Before I go back Mr. Malliki, it
was mentioned earlier that there are gaps in
the Health and Safety Policy as well as the
lack of health and safety committees within
the department. Mr. Ellsworth, you just
mentioned that there are some new steps that
have been taking until this strategy is fully
developed and implemented. Maybe if you
could elaborate a little bit on what safety
measures are put in place for staff currently
until some of these decisions are finalized.
How is the reporting? How are staff that are
out there in the frontlines being able to
access services right now until those
decisions are formalized? Mr. Ellsworth?

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
An important part of the work of social
workers involves safety planning. Safety
planning includes risk assessments. Risk
assessments often happen sort of as a matter
of course, if you will, in terms of recognizing
that some folks may be more likely to engage
in combative or conflicting type relations. So
that risk assessment is a constant. Where we
get the sense that somebody may become
violent or is agitated for reasons that are
beyond the scope of the intervention, we
engage immediately with our colleagues at
the RCMP.

To answer your question, Sir, the immediate
response is a communication response. We
need to know where these incidents are
happening. We need to be able to respond
quickly to ensure that not only does the
situation resolve amicably through the lens of
resolution and de-escalation, rather than
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engaging the justice system, but also to
identify what can we be doing better to help
our clients, because oftentimes the reason
they are running into conflict in their lives
are beyond what the social worker is trying
to do. It also involves messaging and clear
information and understanding that people
have unique and distinct needs when it
comes to a clinical social work approach and
practice.

I think I am rambling on a little bit now, Mr.
Chairman, my apologies. What [ am getting
at is that until we have a clear line of sight in
terms of deployment and implementation of
these pieces that [ mentioned to you already,
the key is communication so that we can be
responsive and identify where people do find
themselves engaged in trauma-inducing
situations, that we apply the resources that
are currently in place to ensure they can
maintain that healthy work reality. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Malliki.

Mr. Malliki (interpretation): Thank you Mr.
Chairman. With no information gathered, I
would like to direct my question to the Office
of the Auditor General. How many
incidences of physical assault, verbal abuse,
and threatening behaviour against workers
were identified in the course of the audit?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Hayes.

Mr. Hayes: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
People came forward to speak to us during
interviews. I don’t have an exact number that
I can give you in terms of the number of
verbal abuse, threatening behaviour, or
physical assault cases, but the number of
people that came forward is not one, it’s not
two, it’s not three; it’s more than that. It is a
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relatively high number. Saying that, even one
is enough. That’s a high number.

As we stated, the reasons for this is because
this information was not getting captured in
the incident reports and the management
occupational health and safety processes. The
department needs to take some action on this.
This is serious. The work that we are asking
community social service workers to do is
already difficult, and this makes it even
harder.

We are concerned that this could be a
recruitment or retention challenge for the
department if there is physical abuse or
threatening behaviour or verbal abuse that is
happening. How do you get people to want to
come and do this work? A strategy and
concrete actions to take safety measures and
put them in place for the workers on the
ground is important. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you for that, Mr. Hayes.
Mr. Malliki.

Mr. Malliki (interpretation): Thank you Mr.
Chairman and I also thank the officials
although no figures were provided as it is
obvious there is more than one, we are
discussing. I now would like to query your
officials on paragraph 13 where it states in
the written form (interpretation ends) The
Office of the Auditor General put forward
possible follow-up actions to address
concerns relating to the safety and wellbeing
of children and youth but that it is the
department which is responsible for
determining the appropriate actions in the
identified instances. Did departmental
officials consider the Auditor General’s
proposed follow-up actions appropriate, or
were other courses of action followed to
address the concerns raised? (interpretation)
Thank you, Mr. Chairman
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Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
think that paragraph 13 ties into paragraph 12
around the safety and wellbeing of children
that the Auditor General had identified as
being concerning. I mentioned the immediate
actions we took earlier in these proceedings,
but perhaps I can elaborate on some of the
actions that were going to take moving
forward.

We have begun developing a comprehensive
set of initiatives and actions to enhance our
operations, staff safety, and information
management. These efforts collectively serve
as our proactive response to addressing long-
term critical concerns and they aim to ensure
effective service delivery while maintaining a
focus on the safety and wellbeing of children
and youth in Nunavut. As you have heard,
you will be reviewing a budget for the
coming fiscal cycle that will seek to enhance
our financial and human resources to further
expand our capacity and to do better. What
we are doing now is we are working within
our current funding allocation to do just that
and to start taking those steps to identifying
where those better pieces are.

I mentioned that our strategic plan is not only
about the what has to be done, but the how,
which is really important. It will also include
contingencies as I mentioned earlier.

The potential increase in staffing for
department will directly improve our ability
and capacity to enable health and healing
specifically by creating more Inuit-specific
programs and services, increasing the
number of Inuktitut speaking counsellors,
and employing more Inuit in care-focused
positions. As you’ve heard, we also have
engaged this comprehensive strategic plan
which I’ve been very fortunate to have
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members of our team be a part of the
development of this. This is just early days
though. This plan has to reflect
Nunavummiut’s needs. It has to encompass
the views of all of us, including, as |
mentioned earlier, community, Nunavut
Tunngavik Incorporated, and regional Inuit
organizations.

We did that immediately after I took office, if
that term is appropriate in this circumstance.
It includes key actions that will allow us to
better operate in compliance with the
legislation and the Child and Family Services
Act and updated standards of procedure. We
need to achieve significant change through
this strategic plan and it needs to be
sustainable. That is the key part of this and a
key message that I’ve shared with my
colleagues, not only at the DM table, but
internal to the Department of Family
Services.

As I mentioned, there needs to be a
communication plan; a robust response to
making sure that the public knows what we
are here to do. There is a common
misconception and I worked at legal aid. I
know what the parents feel when their
children have been apprehended. There needs
to be a shift in the dynamic of what the
relationship looks like as between the way
we operate in our communities and how we
can help to improve realities for people. It
needs to be a wraparound service. This
service needs to not only integrate what the
Department of Family Services also has
available in its career development and
income assistance side, but it also brings in
our colleagues with the Department of Health
including mental health, and the departments
of Justice and Human Resources.

My point being is that there is an important
aspect of the strategic plan that will require a
very clear focus on role, scope, and function
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of each of our respective folks and looking at
ways to integrate those services so that
when... I think I heard it earlier today;
people tend to hop around from “maybe I'll
go to the Department of Health for this, or
maybe I’ll go to social services, or maybe the
Department of Justice can help me.” We
need to move away from that, and that is
exactly what we have set out to do during the
course of the development of the strategic
plan; identify areas where cross-pollination
can happen, if you will.

The communication plan also has a
fundamental piece in terms of informing the
public of these things. I think we haven’t
done a great job at that, so there are various
mediums, particularly in today’s day and age
of technology that we could be engaging to
ensure that if people are struggling, that they
can enter key words and there will be
resources available for them that will identify
who they can see in their home community
and receive services that will respond to their
very important personal needs.

A fundamental tenant of this plan also
includes training, prioritizing training. We
read in the Auditor General’s report that
people are on four-month contracts. We read
that often times, they go as long as 19
months without the core training. This is
significantly problematic in my view, so our
priority during the course of this strategic
plan will also ensure that the onboarding
training happens as soon as it can. The
training modules are being developed not
only internally, through the training fund at
the Department of Human Resources that I
discussed in my opening statement, but also
with contract resources that will ensure that
this onboarding training not only speaks
standards and procedure; it also goes to
understanding what our communities are
made up of and Inuit cultural competence.
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I think we hear the word ‘cultural’... .
What’s the word that I don’t appreciate, Mr.
Chairman... ? “Cultural awareness.” If
you’re going to come to Nunavut and work
in our communities, we want to make sure
that you are equipped and you understand the
nuances of how our communities operate,
and the very different views that community
members have in terms of government
services, again, through the lens of shifting
that paradigm to ensure that people know
that we want to help them, that we are here to
help.

Of course, I spoke pretty specifically about
the matrix solution, and I won’t go into that,
but an important piece of this aspect of this
plan, again and finally, is this evaluation
piece. This is what we are doing, Sir, to
respond to these needs. We want to make
sure it’s sustainable. It will be sustainable
because everyone, I hope, will be a part of
the solution and will collaborate with us, and
will be really honest about their views and
about how they think our services should
function in community and generally and
collectively, recognizing that Nunavut’s
communities are diverse amongst one
another. They are not all the same. Every
community has very distinct and unique
needs and need to be addressed meaningfully
in a way that responds to that community.

Mr. Chairman, I believe that responds to the
questions. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Malliki.

Mr. Malliki (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I also thank you very much for the
response because some individuals might
think that social service workers are there
just to take the children away or to apprehend
the children or the youth. They are not
informed about what services or what the
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Department of Family Services does. I just
wanted to add that.

I have a question on paragraphs 14 through
16. (interpretation ends) Paragraphs 14
through 16 of the report address employee
health and safety. The Department of Health
contracts security services in more than half
of its community health centres, while the
Department of Education has implemented a
database to track incidents of violence in
schools. What discussions have been held
across Government of Nunavut departments
to address the security risks faced by
frontline workers? (interpretation) Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Hunt.

Ms. Hunt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman and
thank you, Member, for the question. You
are correct that the Department of Health
implemented the enhanced security personnel
across our health centres and within our
hospital settings. One, around the safety of
patients, but also the safety of staff. So that is
one area. We also have formal incident
reporting and tracking processes. Anytime
there is an incident in our health centres or in
hospital, we do have a formal process of
documentation, so that those incidents are
reported to the right place, they are followed-
up on and that appropriate actions are taken.
That may be around patients, we also have
the Office of Patient Relations, so
information sometimes also goes through
that process, and that is tracked.

From an employee’s perspective, it may be
about using some of our employee’s
assistance programs, it could be the
utilization of our other programs and
services. It may have the requirement of the
Department of Human Resources, other
departments, or outside departments as part
of the response, depending on the nature of
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the incident that occurred. I hope I've
answered your question. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. I believe you
answered a good portion of it, especially
related to the Department of Health, but I
believe what Mr. Malliki was trying to get at,
maybe Mr. Onalik can speak to this one of
interdepartmental discussions on health and
safety for frontline staff, not just with the
Departments of Health or Family Services or
Education. It seems to be a more common
occurrence of having to utilize security
services in a number of our frontline service
offices, so I’'m hoping that there has been
some discussion interdepartmentally on this
topic. Mr. Onalik.

Mr. Onalik (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Yes. This is a
really difficult conversation. It’s one that we
are trying to work through. We tend to have,
in a lot of our communities, and this is
something that in the past perhaps we’ve
looked at them as the Department of Health
safety plan, the Department of Justice safety
plan, and others. In many cases you only
have one employee or a small number of
employees in each community who are
affected by that safety plan.

We’ve had some discussions about
structurally how we respond for all GN
employees. | want to acknowledge to every
GN employee out there that we know this is
a problem. We know that we haven’t done a
great job in supporting especially the
frontline in their health and safety needs. No
one should be afraid to come to work. No
one should be feeling like they’re putting
their personal lives in jeopardy to do this
important work.

It’s one of these things where I wish I could
say “yes, we’ve got an immediate plan that
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can respond.” We get into some big dollar
amounts, as we’ve seen through the
Department of Health, really quickly as we
start to look at how do you provide physical
safety outside of a police setting, which
creates some other issues. | think we’ve been
looking at a number of different options.
Cabinet has asked us to look at a number of
different options and I’'m hoping that at least
some interim steps for the broader health and
safety supports are reflected in this year’s
budget that you will be considering.

We recognize that in many cases this is a
physical space issue with limited office space
in communities, so we have an individual
working in one office in one part of a
community alone, and this is a broader issue
that we are hoping to address through
looking at the process, looking at staffing,
and looking at infrastructure as well.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Just again, before I
go to Mr. Malliki, I think it has been
mentioned a couple of times now that there is
a probability of a budget request coming
forward to the Assembly. Particularly, that
usually entails person years or positions.
Maybe if Mr. Ellsworth would be able to
educate the Committee on current staffing
levels department-wide, as well as if Mr.
Ellsworth also may have the information on
counsellors and social work staffing levels. If
you don’t have that material handy, maybe
we could receive it prior to the appearance
tomorrow morning. I will give the Deputy
Minister an opportunity to respond if he has
that information available. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
think I will indulge your indulgence to allow
me to obtain very clear numbers on that
piece. I can tell you there are 47 funded
community social service workers at the
present time, 28 of which are filled, and that
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leaves, of course, 19 vacancies;
notwithstanding the fact that we believe that
additional social workers are required to
enhance our capacity in the sense of service
provision and standards compliance.
Complementary to that, I think we need to
recognize that bringing in additional
individuals will require additional
Department of Human Resources support,
corporate services support, and others. While
I can’t speak to specifics of what the ask will
be, I can say that we are looking at all of
those pieces when it comes to potential
submission for consideration by the
Assembly. I will get the detailed information
for you by tomorrow, Mr. Chairman. Thank
you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ellsworth. I
appreciate that commitment. Mr. Malliki.

Mr. Malliki (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Part of my question was not
responded to. I was asking about the
Department of Education. They have put
together an incident reporting policy and they
have planned for that and set it up. Can the
Department of Family Services do that?
Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Malliki. Mr.
Ellsworth mentioned earlier that they are in
the process of establishing that data system
as we speak. Do you have a timeline on that,
Mr. Ellsworth?

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
One of the things I’ve come to realize
working in government is that things seem to
take significantly longer than I would expect,
recognizing that there are several processes
engaged for every piece of change
management that needs to happen. I don’t
want to overcommit. I do want to
overdeliver, and so I’'m hoping, together with
the strategic plan we will be seeing
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something in winter that will also articulate
what the response is to the incident tracking
needs of the department. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Malliki.

Mr. Malliki (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I also thank the Deputy Minister
for the response. This will be my final
question. (interpretation ends) What policies
or programs are currently in place to address
the safety and protection of frontline
government workers? (interpretation) Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Onalik.

Mr. Onalik: I apologize, Mr. Chairman. |
missed the question there.

Chairman: Thank you. What the member is
asking is: what programs or policies are
currently in place to address safety and
protection of frontline government workers?
Mr. Onalik.

Mr. Onalik (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) I appreciate that this is
serious in many ways. One of the issues that
we have had is we have approached this from
multiple departments from multiple angles. I
think we recognize the opportunity that exists
with some reinvigoration of the Department
of Human Resources and the Department of
Executive and Intergovernmental Affairs to
really look at how we approach frontline
workers’ safety and find some consistency
across.

It sounds like a bit of an evasive answer. |
apologize, but it’s something that we are
grappling with at the moment. We have some
very strong systems in place. We have really
good, through the protocols that we have in
place with the information sharing protocols
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that we have in place through the RCYO
agreement for example, we share data across
departments now. I think we just need to find
a better government-wide approach to
ensuring there is consistency across
department and across regions and across
communities. (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you for that response. |
think I would like to get Ms. Cronin’s take
on some early observations of her
observations of health and safety across the
territory frontline workers. Ms. Cronin.

Ms. Cronin: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Yes,
so I have identified we have corporate
positions within the Department of Human
Resources that are unfilled, so I think there is
an opportunity for us to leverage those
positions, recognizing that they are
specialized and they do require a very unique
skillset, but I do think as an organization we
could benefit from some corporate health and
safety and really support these departments
that as indicated, are somewhat going their
own direction. While that is good and
positive, I think there are gains to be made by
working collaboratively.

We will continue to explore our options in
filling those positions; again, unique skillsets
that can really help us... . You know, we’ve
talked about risk assessments and hazards
and putting protective measures in place to
protect our staff, and not to repeat what’s
already been shared, but our employees are
our most important asset and I think, in some
ways, we are failing them. I think that is
disheartening to a number of us. We look
forward to being able to make some
improvements in this area. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. I appreciate that
response and I didn’t get any sense of
evasiveness from you, Mr. Onalik. I know
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it’s not a one-size-fits-all from one
department to the other. There are different
obligations of frontline staff and different
situations that can create more confrontation
in some scenarios. Just to remind Members,
we are on paragraphs 9 through 16. Ms.
Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Since we are talking about workers’ safety, |
think it is really important to note that we
have had a pretty fulsome discussion right
now about peoples’ physical safety, and there
is no denying how important that is. I think it
is really clear that what used to be abnormal
events of violence have now become
normalized. If I could hear from the team at
the Government of Nunavut what measures
are in place for psychological first aid or
critical incident stress debriefing, because we
know that when workers do not feel safe, it
affects their ability not just to do their jobs,
but to also even go to work. If I could hear
from the Government of Nunavut team about
that, I would appreciate it, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Just so we could get
the overarching, I will ask Mr. Onalik to
respond first and then I will go to the other
witnesses. Thank you.

Mr. Onalik (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) We do have
employee assistance programs available
across the government, but I think the
exciting piece, and this is a little bit different
than my previous point on trying to find
ways to collaborate across departments to
improve immediate physical safety, we also
need to recognize that we have employee
groups with very, what feels like, really
unique challenges and have specific either
psychological needs or the ability to talk to
somebody who understands what they do
every day.
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I’'m excited by some of the work that is
taking place at the Department of Family
Services to have tailored supports for their
frontline workers, and in many ways, like the
Department of Health and I know, the
Department of Education, has sought to
increase the level of supports for their
employees based on what it is you do every
day.

I think something that is really important and
a lesson we learned quite a few years ago
now, is even the ability for employees to be
able to help each other. I think when it comes
to very frontline service, the Department of
Family Services and social workers are the
last to have single social work communities.
I can only imagine if you are working a 14-
or 15-hour day, it would be nice to be able to
even have somebody to share the workload,
but also just to talk about what you
experienced. That is one of the pieces where
I think, not to prejudge the will of the
Assembly in any future budget discussions, I
think there is general acknowledgement that
this is not a great situation. We should not
have single social work communities for a
number of reasons, and this is one of them.

Within the confines of the existing budget,
and [ know that Jonathan and the team at the
Department of Family Services are looking
to find interim ways to get around that, but I
am hoping as part of a bigger package that
will be a portion of what the Assembly has to
consider. Perhaps if Mr. Ellsworth can talk
about some of the Family Services-specific
employee supports, or Megan, if you have
something to offer on the mental health
supports for employees, we are more than
happy than happy discuss that further.
(interpretation) Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. We will start off
with Mr. Ellsworth.
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Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman
and thank you, Mr. Onalik. As I mentioned
earlier, a critical piece of employee wellness
is making sure that they have access to
services that can respond to their wellness
needs.

One of our responses includes a dedicated
clinical counselling service for the social and
wellness teams. What we hope to achieve by
offering this very specialized service to them
is that we will enhance their long-term
mental health and wellbeing. Of course, that
is complemented by the comments that Mr.
Onalik just made in respect of moving away
from this one social work community where
essentially, you are on-call 24/7. That does
not, in itself, provide for a healthy work life
balance. In addition to the clinical
counselling, we need to engage in this
process of a caseload analysis to ensure that
the work that we are asking social workers to
do is proportionate or equal to what their
peers might be doing in other jurisdictions,
particularly in jurisdictions with indigenous
community members.

We want to reduce staff turnover through
ensuring that colleagues have the tools to be
able to identify colleagues at risk, to ensure
that they can offer support services and
connect them with external resources that we
are defining as we speak. We need to engage
a critical incident response debrief regime
where, in situations that result in vicarious
trauma on the part of the social worker or
front-line service delivery person, that we
can ensure that these debriefs and
interventions address these critical incidents
and walk through a healing process to ensure
that they’re not suffering from long-term
trauma induced struggles, as it pertains to
their work and outputs.

We need to do better at workplace wellness
outreach, you know checking in and making
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sure, ‘how are you guys doing?’ It is more
than just these questions that I’'m asking. I do
not have a direct answer for you right now,
but we know that we need to do more and
that’s what we have sought out to achieve in
the course of responding to the safety
concerns that the Auditor General has raised
for our frontline staff. We want to make sure
that there is coaching and mentoring
opportunities available for staff, not only in
the client-facing service delivery, but also in
middle management and senior management
positions. Some of the stuff that we are
dealing with at the Department of Family
Services is significantly traumatizing.
Granted, it may not affect some people, but it
affects most people. I am one of those people
that have been deeply affected by the work
that we do.

We need to look at occupational health and
safety folks that have a focus on ensuring
that we have exhausted all avenues of
ensuring that our teams are well-supported in
the work that they’re doing and to make sure
that we’re compliant with occupational
health and safety legislation, internal
standards, and perhaps more importantly,
some of the standards around ensuring... it
goes to this retention piece. One of the issues
that we see is that there are four-month
contracts, and often times people won’t want
to reengage those contracts because we don’t
do well enough in ensuring that they’re
onboarded properly, that they know what
resources are available to them, that they
have access to dedicated counselling and
mentorship opportunities and menteeship
opportunities or whatever the case may be.

Another suggestion that we are reviewing is
the critical incident and debriefing response
specialists within the department that will
serve not only clients, but also staff
members. [ know I spoke loosely on that, but
it is my position that I don’t think one
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position is going to be enough to respond to
the unique needs of our communities. I think
it is important to contextualize this a little
further, Mr. Chairman, if [ may.

When we have an intervention with one child
in our client files, that means that we are
involved with probably a family of 5, 10, or
20 people. If a social worker has 10 files, that
means that they are engaged with 200 people,
all coming from unique and distinct
circumstances, all with varying levels of
trauma, or what have you, Sir. Recognizing
how this impacts that individual’s capacity to
actually do clinical social work in a way that
is responsive to those 200 peoples’ needs, is
something that’s really important to us. |
think to respond to your question, these are
some of the measures that we will be
engaging as we go down this path of
revitalizing the Department of Family
Services to ensure that front-line service
delivery agents are supported not only in a
management concept, but also in a mental
health well-being focus.

Lastly, I will close with this: we’re looking at
also mirroring some of the incentives that the
Department of Health has looked at with
critical workforce incentive packaging. |
think monetarily, sometimes a lot of the
social workers that we work with, they’re not
here for the money, but it does make a
difference because of the very high cost of
living, because of the very significant issues
that they’re dealing with, and so we need to
consider all of these pieces in the context of
ensuring the wellness of not only our
frontline to ensure that they’re providing
services that proportionate to the needs of
their clients, but all throughout the ranks of
the department and throughout the
departments generally speaking. Mr.
Chairman, thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Hunt.

117



Ms. Hunt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank
you for the question. I will try and make this
brief, just to add onto what I’ve heard from
our colleagues. Really what we are talking
about is the overall and general wellness of
our staff and community members as a
whole, and caring for the caregivers, which
every department and all of our Inuit
organizations and other partners do with us,
and we with them.

We have a number of things that we have in
place through our mental health programs
where there is postvention and critical
response, not just for significant incidents
where their staff have been a part of
supporting community when there has been a
death or a serious accident, but for the
compounding day-to-day interactions when
people are struggling at their most vulnerable
times. So making sure that debrief is in place,
making sure that mental health services;
services that we are also encouraging our
community members to use, and that we’re
encouraging our staff to use, like healing by
talking and things like that.

We also make sure that we are connecting
with community champions and seeking
guidance from our elders and community
who understand resilience, who can help
inform our practice and our response with
one another. Also, making sure that as a part
of our annual performance reviews, that
we’re talking to staff about their wellness
plans; the education, training, and the
supports that they need as they experience
and as they walk through offering services to
community members and one another during
difficult times. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you for that. As I go to
Ms. Cronin, we had had a discussion off
camera on an employee wellness division
within the Department of Human Resources
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and I think this is a perfect segue for Ms.
Cronin.

Ms. Cronin: A couple of things come to
mind in terms of opportunities for us to have
an impact in mental health as a human
resources department. One is a review of our
health and benefit plan, so really looking at
our psychological benefits. There are often
barriers built into our plans that prohibit
employees from leveraging this, so taking
that review and really seeing that they have
access to a variety of health professionals.
There are also a lot of gains that have been
made in the digital space. Given that we’re
remote it’s even more important to have
access to those professionals and with the
new technology, there are a number of
individuals that you can contact at any time
of the day so you don’t have the barriers that
might be previously in place.

Another opportunity for us is our return-to-
work programs and our wellness divisions.
Unfortunately, another area that we don’t
have fully staffed, but this is an opportunity
for us to put programs in place that have an
impact, but also to give our off-work
employees the support that they need to
hopefully facilitate a return to work because
we do have a number of individuals that are
not well, and they are not in our workforce.
We know statistically that the longer
someone is off, the harder it is to get them
back to work, and it’s not a good thing to be
off work for your mental health. There are
definitely opportunities for us; capacity still
being something we struggle with, but we do
feel that this is a core responsibility of our
department and an opportunity for us to have
an impact again through the Government of
Nunavut. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.
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Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
It’s so hard to decide which one of my
follow-ups to use. I'm going to take this
opportunity, because performance
assessments were mentioned in a response, to
talk about how often performance
assessments are actually occurring. We know
that this is a cross-government issue and that
it relates to casuals.

We’ve heard that a number of service
employees are casuals and so we also need to
know whether or not exit interviews are
being done with casuals who are not renewed
or decide not to be renewed. Mr. Chairman,
if the Department of Family Services team
can talk to us about how often these
mandated performance reviews are with their
team at Family Services, I would appreciate
that. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Brewster, and I
appreciate you acknowledging the exit
interview process as well, too. In a perfect
world those would be mandatory so that the
government would have the information
available to them to make a better workplace.
Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
As Tunderstand it, it ought to be a
requirement that annually performance
reviews are being undertaken. During the
course of my professional evolution, if you
will, this is a tool that we used at legal aid to
ensure that we were achieving our objectives
in a sense of recognizing that we were a very
small group of professionals with a very
limited budget, and we had some pretty
laudable objectives to achieve in the sense of
access to justice.

In my early career at the Department of
Justice included me working with staff to
develop these very clear work plans and
using those as a tool to assess performance. I
think my colleague spoke eloquently about
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the fact that we also need to engage “What
does your career path include? Where do you
want to be? Are there laddering opportunities
here? How can we support you to access
training opportunities to see your growth into
your full potential?”

To answer your question, Ms. Brewster, [
would like to believe that workplans have
been in place at the Department of Family
Services. I came in just after the last fiscal
cycle, but I can assure this group if I am there
in a permanent sense, which I hope to be, as |
mentioned earlier, our strategic plan will
have subordinate work plans where we are
measuring not only the success of the plan,
but the success and achievements of our
teams to make sure that we are actively
supporting positive outcomes in respect of
not only their personal growth plans, but also
the success of the implementation of the
strategic plan. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Before I go back to
Ms. Brewster, Mr. Onalik would like to
respond to that as well.

Mr. Onalik (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) I’m not fully
disagreeing with my colleague here, but we
don’t do a good job of this in the
Government of Nunavut, and to me, we keep
talking about capacity, capacity, capacity,
and I’ve been in other conversations in this
room, that there is a feeling you don’t want
to use capacity as an excuse, but I think this
is a fundamental context in which this whole
discussion is happening.

We are 40 percent vacancy right now and not
only are we at 40 percent vacancy; we’ve
seen in the last two years since COVID, for a
number of reasons, the rate of departure is
increasing every month. For a while there,
and I apologize I don’t have the latest
statistics, but the Government of Nunavut, up
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until early summer this year was on track this
year for losing 1.6 employees net per day. So
in this environment where we are asking
outside of the Department of Family
Services, across all departments, and we are
asking our employees to not only do their
own job; we’re asking them to do multiple
people’s job.

We have acting supervisors who become
acting managers, who become acting
directors. There is a cost to capacity. I agree
with you that so much of what we need to do
is have these very real conversations with
employees, have the exit interviews, have the
ongoing more than just the check box of
performance reviews, but that takes time. In a
context where you’re trying to do three or
four peoples’ jobs, and you’re dealing with
the Departments of Family Services, Health,
and Education, and you’re dealing with
emergencies and crises all day, it’s hard to
find the space to do the things we should be
doing.

I’m not offering this as an excuse. I actually
just want to, for those Government of
Nunavut employees who are watching, I just
want to make sure that you’re heard and seen
because we ask too much of you, generally
speaking. I’'m hopeful, as a part of this
discussion and other conversations as you
have going into budget and business
planning, that we are able to really rethink
how we are able to support all of our
employees, because with so much of the
conversations we are having right now, I
really am proud of the direction we want to

go.

You have a group of deputies who want to
lay it on the table and say “We have a
problem, we have a crisis, and we need to fix
it,” but I want this Assembly to be aware that
so much of the response to these issues
comes down to changes in policies, changes
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in programs, changes in legislation. Sixty
percent of our policy divisions in the
Government of Nunavut are vacant today.
We have entire departments with not one
indeterminate policy employee.

So I think we are trying to figure out how to
manage this Department of Family Services’
crisis as a priority, but this will come at the
cost of other things. So I just want to be very
upfront. We are attempting to stay a solid
direction and things we want to accomplish,
but the risk, and we would be lying if we said
it’s not a risk, until we can figure out how to
turn the tide on capacity. There is a danger
that many of these things we are talking
about just won’t happen. (interpretation)
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
That was a big can of worms I opened there.
I think it is critical that you’re saying you’re
losing a net of 1.6 employees per day. To me,
then the most critical stopgap that we can do
is to interview them; give them exit
interviews. Why are you leaving? There is
clearly a huge pool of people to advise what
the barriers to success are in maintaining a
job in our public service. I know personally
from my experience, from having carried
many roles and responsibilities at the same
time and only being paid for one. I know
what that is like, and I really do appreciate
the level of commitment that people do have
to their work as public servants. It’s easy to
kind of make of joke of it, however, I know
that there is an ever smaller and smaller
growing number of people who are really
carrying the heavy loads of the work of this
government, and it is infinitely appreciated.

I would ask that that become an absolute
priority. I think it’s really safe to say that
even though the deputy promised not to use
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the word ‘capacity’ in this room, I think it’s
really apparent that my colleagues at the
table are willing to approve almost anything
to help to address these issues. What we need
is for you to come with those requests and
you’ll get the support because it is clear to us
that change has to happen.

I didn’t hear a clear answer on whether or not
these critical incidents stress debriefings are
occurring, but I think they are, and I hope
they are for social workers and other workers
at the Department of Family Services.

I would just like to go back to supporting
employees and with the knowledge that it
was said here that, not in these words, but
peer support is really important and really
effective. I would like to know how often
social workers and those frontline workers
for Family Services are connecting and how
they’re connecting. Is there a regular monthly
conference call that connects them together?
Is there some kind of a regular team’s
meeting that people can jump onto if they
have the time? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
can confirm that it’s the nature of the social
work practice to regularly engage with
colleagues. I can’t speak directly to the
specific frequency of these engagements, but
I do know that they are regular. I know that I
myself engage with all levels of the
department regularly. As a matter of course, I
need to take the temperature on the frontline
and know where supports are required. To
answer your question, Ms. Brewster, they’re
happening; I can’t speak specifically to the
frequency. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Before I go back to
Ms. Brewster, I'm going to acknowledge the
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clock and we will take a 15-minute break.
Thank you.

>>Committee recessed at 15:21 and
resumed at 15:45

Chairman: Thank you. I would like to
welcome the Committee and witnesses back
to the Office of the Auditor General Report
on Child and Family Services in Nunavut.
We’re currently on paragraphs 9 through 16
in the report and Ms. Brewster still had a line
of questioning going. Ms. Brewster, please
proceed.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
would just like to go back and correct myself
because, before I said it, I didn’t actually
look at my highlighted note here regarding
the critical incident stress debriefings. I think
what I heard was that we would like to do it
or it’s a plan to do it or a plan to implement
those critical stress debriefings.

I would like to hear whether or not there was
a policy or a protocol in place regarding
critical incident stress debriefing. This is
more for the employees so that they hear and
they know for sure what the commitment is
so that they can be empowered to cause
action on a critical stress debriefing if
needed. Is there a timeline that states exactly
what will happen and when it will happen,
when there is a critical incident involving our
staff and as well, when will that be
implemented?

If I could just have a really brief response to
that, it just makes it easier to soak it in.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Brevity is certainly an art form, but it will be
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implemented at the same time as the strategic
plan. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
appreciate that response. Just to be clear, is
there any kind of a policy or procedure in
place right now that public servants can refer
to when they’re involved in a critical
incident? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Brewster. Mr.
Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
There are critical incident reporting tools
defined within the framework of the
standards, but it doesn’t speak to the need for
the wellness piece of the needs of employees
and so this will be a part of our Occupational
Health and Safety Plan, which will include
policies around what resources are available
and what steps need to be taken in the course
of reporting and the department’s obligations
to employees in that context. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
appreciate that response. Can we just hear the
advice that employees could use today when
it comes to a critical incident, who can they
go to or who can they call? There is a role
that management plays. We have heard about
the employee assistance program as well.
Just to be really clear so that people know
how to access the support that they need in
the absence of the implementation of that
program. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
think the current process, Ma’am, is such that
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critical incidents are reviewed by
supervisors. Employees are advised of the
current employee assistance program that is
available to them. However, again, we do
recognize that this isn’t sufficient within the
context of the delicate work that social
workers undertake on our behalf and so this
is where we’re going with the enhanced
access to services for critical incident
debriefing and response. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Next name I have on
my list: Mr. Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman,
and good afternoon. I just have a quick
follow-up I wanted to question here. First of
all, good afternoon, everyone. Thank you for
coming in and all the work that has been
done, and welcome to Nunavut.

Earlier Associate Deputy Minister Ms. Sandy
Kownak mentioned a bit about support at the
local level for frontline workers, I think she
was referring to. I am looking for a bit more
clarification. Is the department looking at,
perhaps, some more courses or a way to
decompress, perhaps through the inter-
agencies at the local level? One example we
can use is pretty much in every community,
the Arctic College Community Learning
Centre is available evenings and weekends. |
brought this up many times, as some of my
colleagues already know, but that’s a space
that’s secure and quiet and privately
available. We could do that for supports for
parents as well, how to cope with losing their
children to the system.

I’m wondering and looking for a bit more
clarification because I’'m hoping that the
department is not only looking at annual
regional conferences for their workers. I
think it really needs to be done at the local
level, twice a month maybe. If I just could
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get a bit of clarification on that, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
don’t think the pathway has been defined yet,
Sir, but I do believe that we need to look at
all of those options that are available to us
and that includes not only assessing what
facilities exist within communities that can
play a role in providing space for these kinds
of discussions, but with brevity in mind, it
also goes to this reality that we need to
integrate our services. Oftentimes we do
know that police and health care workers and
social workers and justice officials are often
managing one incident, if you will.

I think the plan does include reviewing what
in-community options do exist, recognizing
that there’s strength, and also relying on
community-based not-for-profits and other
organizations, and perhaps elders where
they’re available and willing to participate in
sort of debriefing those really critical
incidents and providing for opportunities to
discuss and resolve some of those challenges.
I believe my colleague, Mr. Onalik, would
like to speak to that, Mr. Chairman. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ellsworth. I got
that indication as well. Mr. Onalik, please go
ahead.

Mr. Onalik (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) I think that’s
a really good point and we started the early
work process to look at ways we can have all
GN workers who work together in
communities. We are doing inventory of
things like office space and facilities, with
the goal of having for safety and comradery,
to be able to work together instead of being
the only person from the department in one
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office and then someone else being the only
person from one department in another
office.

Are there options to put people under one
roof? I think, based on that comment, we can
expand the scope of that to include
opportunities for underutilized infrastructure
because surprisingly, when we did the first
look, we need a lot of infrastructure, but
there is also a lot of underutilized
infrastructure in communities. I think that is
a welcome suggestion and we can add that to
the scope of that work. (interpretation) Thank
you.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It
is more just of a comment. Now, [ am very
happy with the responses I just received,
especially Deputy Minister Ellsworth’s
mention of elders. That is an untapped
resource in Nunavut that always seems to be
forgotten. We constantly praise elders for
their wisdom and knowledge, and they are
natural counsellors and they should be
highlighted more and actually utilized more.
It could help lessen the employee burnout,
which is very important, and it could lead to
a happier life and happier home.

I have always been very cognizant or have
tried to be anyway myself not to bring work
home into my family life. My spouse, who |
am very thankful for, notices at times that I
am very quiet and she knows it is work
related and then we leave it at that. I do not
want to see the 1.6 net daily, is that what you
said earlier, Mr. Onalik, of employees
leaving the Government of Nunavut? I do not
want that to increase. That’s over 580 a year
we’re losing and these are the critical
frontline workers we need to ensure that we
keep longer and not increase the net loss of
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employees leaving. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. If I just may add to
that, I know that in a number of different
professions, to be involved in the community,
you need to have that time available to meet
with elders, go out boating with your
neighbours, go out on the land and see this
great territory and meet great community
members that you’re there to support. Unless
our employees have that free time to be able
to do that, they’re not able to fully
encompass the roles that we’re putting them
in. I have said that many times; I couldn’t
help but say it again.

I have no more names under this category.
We will proceed to Referrals to family
services, paragraphs 17 through 20. Mr.

Quqgqiaq.

Mr. Quqqiaq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
My first question will be for the Office of the
Auditor General. Paragraph 17 of your report
states that your audit “found a number of
significant deficiencies in how the
Department of Family Services responded to
reports...and how it supported children and
youth in [foster] care...” Can you describe
the different types of deficiencies that were
identified? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Quqqiaq. Mr.
McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
In terms of the types of deficiencies, maybe
the best way for me to answer your question
is to... . Essentially this paragraph outlines
the deficiencies or our findings with respect
to the response and follow through on
referrals, as well as our findings on the
section on foster care as well, surely an
encompassing paragraph. We found
deficiencies, for example, or gaps, if you
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will, as outlined in Exhibit 1 in terms of
following through referrals to see were they
acted on and did they result in an
investigation. Other deficiencies include, for
example, we didn’t see evidence with respect
to check-ins for children and youth that were
in foster care or out of territory.

I would almost point to the table of contents,
although it might not get to that level of
detail, but it talks about the failure to act on
reports, of suspected harm, little action on
plans of care, and lack of oversight. Those
are observations, but equally important is the
second part of that paragraph where we talk
about that there are a number of long-
standing issues and the root causes that we
talk about in the report. The reason I say that
is because, as Deputy Hayes had mentioned
earlier, we see that there are some underlying
root causes that are really behind our
observations. The way I kind of summarize it
is that the people who are the face of the
Department of Family Services, the
community and social service workers who
are in the communities, are really not getting
the support and the tools that they require to
be successful, to succeed.

That essentially is how I would wrap up the
response to that question is that we did see
deficiencies or gaps. We have outlined what
we think are root causes that need to be
addressed and those root causes, whether it’s
workload, for example, or training, are really
what need to be addressed in order to put the
community social service workers in a
position to be able to meet the standards that
the department has set for them. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Quqqiagq.
Mr. Quqgqiaq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I’'m going to ask the Government of Nunavut
witnesses now. Paragraph 18 of the audit
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report states, “Employees of the department
are required under the Child and Family
Services Act to respond to cases where a
child may be in need of protection.” How
does the department ensure that all
employees are aware of their responsibilities
and duties under the legislation? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
think it’s evident on the face of the findings
that the department hasn’t been doing that
and considering all the relevant factors, this
is why this is a crisis.

In terms of what we have done since, we
have done a focused sort of directive with a
complementary training piece around the
standards that need to be well understood by
our frontline practitioners. Those standards
include receiving an intake, ensuring that it’s
reviewed within 24 hours, depending on the
nature of it, whether or not an investigation
has to ensue, following that, and ensuring
that investigations are done, really, in a
timely way. I think the standard requires 30
days.

Then building on that, we also recognize that
there’s a role for supervisors to play in this
context as well. Supervisors need to,
obviously, supervise the work of the social
workers, but it’s incumbent on all layers of
the department to make sure that these
standards are not only being trained on and
recognized and respected, but also that
they’re being discharged in a way that
meaningfully responds to the incident that
brings social workers into contact with
families. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Quqqiagq.
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Mr. Quqqiaq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I’ll
be going back and forth. My next question is
to the Office of the Auditor General. Exhibit
1 of your report describes action taken or not
taken in response to referrals made to Family
Services workers. During the audit period,
did the department provide reasons why
actions were not taken? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Hayes.

Mr. Hayes: Thank you. We did not get any
reasons from the department for why the
actions were not taken, but our report did
focus on the root causes which, through our
audit work and discussions with the
department, we landed on as important
factors. Mr. Ellsworth has just talked about
training and that, I think, is an important
aspect of it. When you have temporary staff
moving through at a relatively quick pace
and the training doesn’t get to them, even
while they’re an employee, that’s a problem
and that’s a challenge for both the
department and the employees. Likewise, the
staffing gaps and the housing and office
space challenges provide reasons why some
of these actions haven’t been taken. Thank
you very much, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Quqqiagq.

Mr. Quqqiaq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. To
the Government of Nunavut witnesses, how
does the department ensure that all
employees follow the appropriate standards
and procedures to address referrals that they
may receive? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Quqqiaq. Mr.
Ellsworth responded to that question in the
tail end of his last response. Did you have
another question?
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Mr. Quqqiaq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
didn’t realize he already answered that
question and my apologies for asking that
question again. Exhibit 1 of the audit report
describes actions taken or not taken in
response to referrals made to the Department
of Family Services’ workers during the audit
period. How should referrals be handled
when they are received by staff? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. That is for the Government of
Nunavut witnesses.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Quqqiaq, for
clarifying that. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
As I mentioned, the standards and procedures
of the department articulate the timing with
which we respond to referrals. Standard
201A specifically speaks to receiving and
screening referrals. The time frame standard
with respect to referrals is that within 24
hours of receiving the referral, it gets
reviewed to determine the next step of the
referral, whether or not it engages the
investigative process or other processes that
are articulated in the standards. The
investigation, of course, must be initiated
within seven days and must be completed,
again as | mentioned, within 30 days of the
referral. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Just before I go back
to Mr. Quqqiaq, I understand Mr. Ellsworth,
you answered a lot of those particulars
earlier, but I think the crux of the question is:
in Exhibit 1 in the report, there are a number
of cases that actions were taken and a
number that weren’t taken. I understand
those are the parameters of what should
happen, and I believe that was the exact
question, but since taking over the
Department of Family Services, have you
done your own investigation to see what
actuals are now with recognition of this
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report coming out a number of months ago?
Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
didn’t personally investigate these matters,
but through the work of the regional directors
and other senior leadership at the department,
early on in my career, if you will, at Family
Services we recognized that immediate
action needed to be taken and that there
needed to be a focus, as I mentioned, Mr.
Chairman, on training and oversight; the
oversight piece probably just as important as
the training piece.

The Auditor General of Canada made very
clear reference to the fact that we don’t do
well when it comes to training. A lot of it has
to do with the transient nature of the people
that we employ on very short-term contracts,
and so coupled with the fact that this
immediate step was taken, we need to do
better as a department in terms of the
onboarding training that I discussed earlier,
the ongoing professional development, and
finding ways to retain people for longer
periods of time than just four months. I think
of myself of having had the privilege of
visiting many of Nunavut’s communities in
my early career at the court; one week was
not enough. In four months you’re just barely
getting to know people.

Going to your point, Mr. Chairman, around
being able to engage with the community and
participate in cultural activities and these
kinds of things, [ know I’m going a little
outside of the question, but I think it goes
also to this idea that there needs to be a
concerted, principled and structured response
to these findings. It needs to be sustainable
and it needs to withstand scrutiny and
evaluation. Although it is clear on the face
that their findings are not very positive at all,
it does set the stage and it creates a
framework for us for action, and that’s
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exactly what we intend to do, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Quqqiagq.

Mr. Quqgqiaq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
For the information of the general public, this
is for the Government of Nunavut witnesses:
can you describe the difference between the
safety assessment and risk assessment?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. A
brief indulgence, if | may.

My apologies. Standard 205 in the Social
Workers Standards and Procedures discusses
what a safety assessment entails. I apologize.
I wasn’t prepared for this detailed question,
but I do have the information available to me
if you will bear with me, Mr. Chairman.

Here we are. Apologies. Thank you for your
indulgence. A safety assessment must be
completed and documented as part of the
investigation of a referral for any child
protection or family violence matter. What it
means is that we want to evaluate the
immediate safety of a client where there are
concerns their status. Community level social
workers complete a safety assessment for any
child protection matter when placing youths
between the ages of 16 and 19. If risks are
identified as a part of that safety assessment,
then it requires a safety plan to be undertaken
as the next step.

During the course of defining what the safety
assessment entails, they also are required to
consult with supervisors and clinical
professionals to ensure that their next phases
of the process are reflective of the needs of
the client. The responsibility of the
supervisor boils down to reviewing and
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approving the safety decision and plan, or
providing feedback around any necessary
modifications that need to be undertaken.

I believe the second part of the question was
risk assessment. Thank you.

I apologize again. It doesn’t appear that my
materials have this, Mr. Chairman. If [ may
indulge the Committee to report back at a
later time with this information for the
Member, I would appreciate that. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ellsworth. That
is not a problem. If you could provide that
with the other information that you will be
providing tomorrow morning to the
Committee, I would appreciate it. Mr.

Quqgqiaq.

Mr. Quqqiaq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I’ll move on to the Office of the Auditor
General. Paragraph 20 of the report notes that
failures in taking the required steps to
address referrals “...are also missed
opportunities to assess whether families
require support such as parenting, mental
health, or addictions services.” Did your
audit record how often families were
assessed as requiring such supports and what
steps were taken to ensure that they received
them? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Hayes. Sorry.
Mr. McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Maybe the best way for me to answer the
question is to use an example as we do after
Exhibit 1 and in paragraph 21, which talks
about plans of care. That essentially is if
there is an investigation, for example, and
there is conclusion that there are supports
that may be required or services, they would
be outlined in a plan of care. We did not look
at each individual case, but we did see that in
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the plans of care, that is where that type of
information is documented. That is where we
would see the results of the assessment in the
investigation and then the determination of
the types of services. That is where it gets
reflected or captured is in, for example, the
plan of care. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you for that, Mr.
McKenzie. Mr. Quqqiagq.

Mr. Quqgqiaq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
My next question will be: did your audit
investigate how often families that were
assessed and referred for such supports as
parenting, mental health, or addictions
services actually receive additional assistance
from the Department of Health? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Again, probably the best way for me to
answer that question is to refer to paragraphs
21-22 where we talk about the plans of care
that would capture those types of information
and we would be looking for the department
to be following up and monitoring on that
plan of care to see if, in fact, whether it is
programs from the Department of Health or
otherwise are being accessed. That is where
we saw gaps in terms of the follow-up, which
would help determine or answer some of
those questions. We didn’t look at it
specifically, but we did look at where the
plans of care were being followed up on and
was there evidence to show that they were
just tracking that type of question: are they
getting the types of services that the people
need? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Quqqiaq.

Mr. Quqqiaq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Exhibit 1 of your report shows that an
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investigation following the screening-in of a
referral must be carried out within 24 to 72
hours of the referral. Did your audit identify
whether any investigations were conducted
outside of this time frame, after more than 72
hours, and if so, how many investigations
were conducted later than required by
departmental standards and procedures?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Quqqiaq. Mr.
Hayes.

Mr. Hayes: Thank you for that question. We
weren’t able to accurately identify how many
of these investigations were conducted after
the period of time that they were supposed to
be done in. The reason for that was the audit
team went to tremendous efforts to piece
together the information that they could from
varieties of sources. Getting information was
challenging and we were trying to paint the
most accurate picture for you here.

Obviously, there were a number of cases
where screenings weren’t done, where
investigations weren’t done, where risk
assessments and safety assessments weren’t
done. It’s possible that even in the ones that
were done, they were late, but we can’t give
you a clear picture on that. This connects in
part to one of the root causes that we
identified and that’s the one on information
management, keeping accurate records so
that we can see how quickly the steps that are
supposed to be taken are happening and
where they’re not happening, as Mr.
Ellsworth mentioned earlier, having follow-
ups and ticklers to make sure that they do
happen. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Quqqiagq.
Mr. Quqgqiaq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Moving on to the Government of Nunavut
witnesses, paragraph 20 of the audit report
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notes that the failure to follow up on referrals
also resulted in missed opportunities to
assess whether families needed such supports
as parenting, mental health, or addictions
services. How often do such family
assessments occur and what steps are taken
to access the relevant services for them?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Regular follow-ups, as I articulated earlier,
are a requirement of our standards and
procedures and it is apparent that that wasn’t
happening at the material time of the audit.
As I mentioned earlier, we have taken
immediate steps to address these. It’s part of
the continuum of the process as it pertains
from referral to investigation, to follow-up,
to additional referrals and integration of other
services that are available through
government services.

One of the contributing factors to our reality
in terms of why these follow-ups weren’t
happening, which I know is not a part of your
question, but I think it’s important to state for
the record, is that as the Auditor General has
stated and we have stated, there is not a
proper record-keeping mechanism for staff.
A couple that [ have come to learn is that
there are various methods of keeping files
and following up, or there was, and
following up on referrals and investigations.
There was no consistency and we hope to
address this with the implementation of the
software solution together with our initial
and immediate actions of improving the
screening and investigations at an operational
and regional level.

We have engaged in informative discussions
and feedback with our teams throughout the
ranks in terms of the expectation and the role
they play in ensuring that our standards of
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compliance are met in a meaningful way. We
have injected immediate staff support in
terms of our earlier discussion with the peer
support mechanisms. We have ensured that
there are shared examples of screening
procedures to serve as reference material for
all staff.

Again, targeted training objectives and
initiatives are in development and ready to be
deployed, I hope, in conjunction with our
strategic plan. How often? The standards that
I mentioned earlier around the weekly follow
ups and such, and if you want me to go into
detail again, I’d be happy to do that, but
basically the standards that are at play for us
are the standards that we re currently
embracing in terms of making sure that we
do follow up on a regular basis and in
accordance with the standards and
procedures that are in place at present. I hope
that answers your questions, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, and before I go back
to Mr. Quqgqiaq, I would just like a
clarification. When we talk about a plan of
care that involves multi departments, how are
current plans of care handed off? In this case,
maybe the Department of Family Services to
the Department of Health might be a good
example, [ would like to hear from both of
you. In addition to that, how is it envisioned
to improve so that those gaps or breakdowns
do not occur in the future? I will start with
you, Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
You made reference to a plan of care.
Oftentimes, a plan of care committee is
established when a social worker believes
that child is in need of protection and the
parents agree with the need for this service.

Plan of care committees can be established
following an apprehension, or if the child is
returned to their parent or guardians care
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within 72 hours of that apprehension. A plan
of care committee may not need to be
established if the investigation shows that
there are no ongoing protection concerns and
if the child was apprehended but returned
within 72 hours and there are no further
protection matters that need to be addressed.

This plan of care committee often engages
many of our staff. It should include, as the
legislation provides for community
involvement as well. We have not gone down
that road as far as I can tell in terms of the
community-level plan of care committees
and the family wellness planning
committees. In terms of engaging with our
colleagues at Health following the
identification of perhaps, for example,
treatment needs that any one of the family
members may have in the context of the
reason of why they came into contact with
our social workers in need of assistance. |
think those would be assessed following our
referral to our colleagues at the Department
of Health. I may be somewhat mistaken in
that regard, Mr. Chairman, but perhaps my
colleague Ms. Hunt can elaborate on what
happens next.

Chairman: Thank you. That is the point I
am trying to get to, is that there have
obviously been breakdowns in these
handoffs, and if there is a committee that is
meeting, where are these gaps being created,
whether it be artificially or just through the
course of business? Ms. Hunt please.

Ms. Hunt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank
you for the question. I think your point is
well taken. What should happen and what
does happen? I think there are lots of good
things that happen, but the report from our
Auditor General really highlights where these
gaps are.
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In terms of a plan of care, a plan of care is
always maintained in the responsibility of the
Department of Family Services because it
stays with the child. From the committee
perspective in terms of what’s identified
within that plan of care; if there is an area of
service that is under the umbrella of the
Department of Health, then it’s the
Department of Health’s responsibility to
work as part of that integrated team-based
care surrounding that child and family to
make sure that those services are provided.
Then, to continue to be engaged with that
Plan of Care Committee for ongoing
feedback to make sure that if there are
challenges or further services required, those
are being supported, identified, and followed
through upon by that group, which may
include many other departments or
community agencies that are a part of that
child’s plan of care, and then of course the
consideration around the rights of indigenous
children that will also consider the cultural
considerations, their connection to
community, language, elders, and culture
incorporated into that. Health, of course, has
a responsibility to ensure that aspects of their
health care services meet their cultural needs
as well. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Hunt. |
appreciate the additional information. Mr.

Quqgiagq.

Mr. Quqgqiaq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
want to thank the Government of Nunavut
witnesses and the Auditor General’s office.

This will be my last question, Mr. Chairman,
for the Government of Nunavut witnesses.
How does the Department of Health address
referrals from Family Services for families
that require additional supports and services?
This is for the general public’s information,
Mr. Chairman, and that’s my last question.
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Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Quqqiaq, and |
do apologize. I kind of took your question
away from you in the last one where I was
getting further details. I didn’t realize you
were going to follow up. That has been asked
and answered already. Do you have any
additional questions?

Mr. Quqgqiaq: No, that’s it, Mr. Chairman.
We’re all here for a reason, we’re all here to
help the children, we’re all here to help the
families, and I appreciate these hearings. I
don’t have any more questions, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Next name I have on
my list: Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Just for the record, to put it really simply,
regarding the question that Mr. Quqqiaq
asked, the safety assessment is to determine
an immediate risk to a child and a risk
assessment is to determine future risks, and
that’s just like the really basic way of
viewing it.

My question is for the Office of the Auditor
General and that is on the issue we have been
focusing on, children who are at risk within
their own families, and I would just like to
ask whether or not there was any review of
whether or not there are children who are
experiencing maltreatment in foster care. |
know that many children who are in the
foster care system are at very high risk for all
sorts of abuse; physical, sexual, or emotional
abuse. Was there any look to measure
whether children experienced that abuse and
neglect while in care and in the responsibility
of the stare, which is Nunavut? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Brewster. You’re
jumping ahead a little bit. We have a specific
section on foster care coming up, paragraphs
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26 through 31. Just to maybe save a little bit
of time later, I will allow Mr. Hayes to
answer this one. If you have any follow-up,
maybe you could direct it at the appropriate
time. Mr. Hayes.

Mr. Hayes: Indeed, so I’'ll keep my answer
short. We did look at a sample of 51 files of
children in foster care. That sample was
drawn from five communities that
represented the various regions and also, it
represented both small, medium and large.
We identified gaps in contact and check-ins
with these children. There are some examples
at paragraph 29 where we signal that there
were children that were no longer in their
foster placement and living elsewhere, that
the department didn’t know about and
learned after, and indeed some examples
where the children who were taken from their
parents were back living with them. There
are a few examples where we didn’t conclude
on maltreatment, but there were concerns
about that. I’ll stop there, Mr. Chairman; we
can cover that later. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
was actually actively avoiding trying not to
ask questions about information management
because I’'m really excited about that, so I
apologize for that.

I’11 just go back then to the Government of
Nunavut’s responses regarding the services
to families post investigation. What |
understand is that there’s the intake and then
the investigation phase and that often,
families, regardless of whether or not their
children are still in care or they’re back with
them, as we have heard, are not necessarily
receiving those supports.

Just for clarity, because I have been having a
little bit of trouble focusing on the longer
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answers, what are the exact services provided
to families post investigation and what are
the standards that facilitate that action? What
are they called and whose job is it to
implement them? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Brewster. Mr.
Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Ma’am, for the question. Just
going back to clarify the risk assessment
question, so the risk assessment as it relates
to child protection matters under the
legislation is supported through the
structured decision-making framework. This
fuses both safety and risk planning related to
the ongoing needs of the situation. There are
also risk assessments that are specifically
related to family violence, which are
somewhat different than the above
intervention. They involve a different level of
criteria but also could be inclusive,
depending on the situation.

With respect to the services provided and
who is responsible for ensuring, again, the
plan of care, if we’re still in that context of
discussion, the services could include
provision for where and with whom the child
will live, identifying options first through the
consular family; second, identifying support
services to make the child’s home safe. That
could carry a myriad of different options in
terms of accessing services for parents or
children: counselling; access to the child by a
parent where the child will not be living with
the parent; the child’s social and recreational
activities; the responsibility is delineated of
any person who becomes members of a plan
of care, a committee or group, among others.
The responsibility lies largely with the
frontline social workers and the supervisors
and managers to ensure that those plans of
care are carried out and they’re clearly
articulated.
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One of the steps that the department has
taken since... . It’s a little more of a recent
step and that is the sense of getting early
involvement with legal counsel on the
development of plans of care. This is a two-
fold thing and it is very early days, but I do
want to share with this Committee, on the
part of the department, early involvement
with our retained legal counsel to ensure that
the plan of care is done through the
framework of first prevention and
maintenance of that family unit and to ensure
that services are being offered to them in
accordance with their needs.

The second piece is something that we’re
still building on, but I’ve had early
discussions with legal aid and which I have
told this Committee where I grew up is that
we identified early on that oftentimes when
parents are in a crisis, if you put a document
in front of them that is going to get their kids
back, they’re going to sign anything they
can. Let’s be honest; I would sign anything |
needed to, to get possession of my children
back into my home. The problem with that is
something in law called informed legal
consent and in order to ensure that our plans
of care are not only legal from the
department side, we want to make sure that
the users of our service are getting advice
with respect to their legal rights as it pertains
to the plan of care and the department’s
involvement in their lives.

Although it’s early days, legal aid and the
Department of Family Services are looking at
mechanisms that we could engage that would
ensure that individuals who are in the process
of developing a plan of care do have access
to legal counsel to ensure their rights and
their children’s rights are met, but in addition
to ensuring that the legislative framework is
well respected and that the timelines that we
know are involved with these plans of care
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are also being well understood by all the
parties and in compliance with the
legislation. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster, I think
we’re kind of delving into the next...let me
finish. I don’t have any other names under
paragraphs 17 through 20, so I’'m going to
make a Chair’s decision and we’re going to
move on to paragraphs 21 and 25, and Ms.
Brewster’s already engaged in those pages,
so you can continue right on. Thank you.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
have been really impressed by the
transparency today. Let me just take another
moment to acknowledge how refreshing this
is because if we don’t identify the problem
and if we don’t admit that we have a
problem, we cannot solve it, so this is a great
day in Nunavut.

With that in mind, how often does the
department and the team follow the
appropriate legislation regarding the plan of
care and, if it doesn’t always happen, why
and what’s being done to address that? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
That’s an excellent question. How often? The
direction from my office has been that any
time a plan of care is even being considered,
the staff should be consulting legal counsel.
We need to engage the legislative framework
through the lens of which it was intended and
that is the lens of protection and prevention.

There is opportunity for that not to happen
and that opportunity arises when we haven’t
done a great job of ensuring that people are
aware of these directions. One of the pieces
that is incumbent on leadership and
management in the Department of Family
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Services is this ongoing awareness campaign
of what the requirements are for social
workers and managers and leaders during the
discharge of their duties. If there is an
opportunity for this to happen, for example,
Ms. Brewster, we don’t want it to happen
anymore. I think it’s very clear on the face of
this report that there have been significant
gaps in our service delivery.

Again, going through this accountability,
we’re trying to establish checks and balances
throughout the ranks and engaging legal
counsel, who do have ethical and legal
obligations as it pertains to their conduct on
files. We’re hoping that with this additional
oversight together with the impending
implementation of the strategic plan, this
moving forward, I hope, will no longer occur
during course of the practice of the social
workers.

Again, at any time, you can have any plan in
place and a perfect review model, but we’re
all humans and humans do make mistakes,
and so that’s why this check and balance
system will be really important, not only
using the enhanced Matrix Software
Solutions but also the enhanced directives
and the enhanced engagement that is
happening in the ranks of the staff at Family
Services. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ellsworth. Ms.
Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for that response. I know from
lived experience the parents who are in need
of support for many reasons. You mentioned
that there’s a separate protocol in place for
assessing risk when it comes to domestic
violence and particularly in incidents where
children are being removed because of
family violence. We know that women
especially are at great risk and that they also
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want to do everything they can to bring their
children home.

It’s counterintuitive for a person who is
experiencing family abuse to engage the
support and help from the same social
worker or the same worker who is
responsible for protecting the child’s safety.
How is this addressed? When we’re talking
about transformative change, we know that
this has been an ongoing issue since long
before Nunavut came to be. We should be
experts on this. People should be coming to
us saying, “We need your advice.” I would
like to hear how this issue is being
approached and how we’re offering that
important support that saves lives. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
think that your question points out a very
important reality for a lot of our social
workers and that is the fact that there is a
stigma around the services that we provide.
We’re not seen as people that you can
approach about accessing services. I think
my colleague, Sandy, mentioned in one of
our strategic planning sessions was this idea
of even the translation of what family
services is in Inuktitut. It has a very negative
connotation, social worker, if I'm
remembering correctly.

How we break down those barriers, I think, is
going to take a multi-faceted approach and an
approach that is contained within the plan
that’s being developed. That includes, again,
identifying role, scope, and function within
our departments across integrated services,
messaging to the public, and just, I think, a
rebranding initiative of sorts so that people
know that it’s not our business to take kids
and put them elsewhere, but it’s our business
to protect that family unit and particularly
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women and children who live with violence.
There needs to be pathways to resources that
sees mom and child sort of properly taken
care of, not through the lens of separation but
through the lens of integrated support with
our colleagues at Health and Family
Services.

Notwithstanding that, I can’t say for sure
right now, Ms. Brewster, that we help people
to feel that they can come to us. I know that
we don’t and this goes to my earlier
comment around the reality that we’re in
protective mode. We’re in protection mode
because we don’t have the capacity to be in
prevention mode. We don’t have the capacity
to be and I know that the big “C” is a no-no
in this Assembly, but our response seeks to
address that issue exactly. I know I have said
a lot of words, but I know I’'m committed to
making sure that our resources are
approachable and that people know that they
can come to us. We need to set up various
access points and mediums by which they
can access our services. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Just to remind
Committee Members, we’re now on
paragraphs 21 through 25. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
would like a more substantive response to
that question and I’1l just be really clear. Are
separate social workers or family services
workers assigned to parents to support them
in the issues that are creating these issues of
concern that bring them into the fold of
Family Services? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Yes, Mr. Chairman, that is a primary
function of the social worker to begin with is
to make sure that the family is getting the
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support that they need. Like I said, I think
we’re challenged in that regard with respect
to the stigma that surrounds the work of
social workers. Thank you.

Chairman: Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you. That’s great to
hear. I'm happy to hear that because I think
that knowing that parents can feel free to
share about their own issues and concerns is
really important. I agree; there’s a lot of work
to be done to address the issue, like the
stigma of needing help and often what
happens is people are afraid of that stigma, so
they don’t reach out for help until it becomes
a crisis and the sooner that people reach out
for help, the better.

I’ll shift to include our guest from the Office
of the Auditor General. The audit report
notes in Paragraph 25 that in one of the
communities visited, regular meetings
between Family Services and Health staff
had been established to discuss cases. Did the
audit review how many communities had
established interagency groups and
information sharing groups to address child
protection cases? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Madam Cotnoir.

Ms. Cotnoir: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for the question. We did look at
what was in place in the communities we had
visited and we found only one place where
there were regular meetings between the
Department of Health and the Department of
Family Services. What was clear to us, given
the interviews we did in both departments, is
the Nunavut Child Abuse and Neglect
Response Agreement was not well known
and that the key components were not
implemented. It is really important that
operational procedures are put in place at all
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levels to make sure that this agreement is
implemented. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you very much. Ms.
Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
know that we have moved on from the
discussion about the human resources side of
this issue. However, in that response, there
was a clear indication that the training and
orientation on those specific plans and
directives or agreements seems to be lacking.
I’m just trying to recall if we did receive a
response about whether or not that training is
part of the orientation and if it’s okay for me
to ask that. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. If
I could, perhaps, get the question clarified.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I’m just trying to remember the exact name
of the agreement; [ have to put my glasses
on, the Surusinut Ikajuqtigiit Nunavut Child
Abuse and Neglect Response Agreement and
what we’re hearing is that it’s not being fully
implemented and particularly because teams
are not being oriented to those agreements
and it was only in that one community where
they saw that one particular community
working and it was Health and Family
Services. I still say health and social services
as well.

How is the Department of Family Services
ensuring that employees at the community
level are aware of that agreement and taking
up that responsibility to pull those
interagency groups together? It’s not just
Health. It’s the RCMP. It’s Justice. There are
a couple of reasons why just the Government
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of Nunavut should be in the circle of care.
However, there are also the really important
interagency groups that can help serve their
own communities.

If I could boil it back down, I’'m now talking
too much, how are team members being
oriented to that agreement? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I apologize.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
just have a few comments because I believe
we did speak to this and perhaps my
colleague, Ms. Hunt, might have additional
comments.

These kinds of relationships start at the top.
That means senior officials of each
department need to be engaging regularly
and setting the tone and expectations for
these interrelated or interagency or integrated
services that are required on the frontline. I
can’t say with confidence that enough has
been done on the part of my department with
respect to ensuring that these agreements are
a part of the core training materials that are
shared with incoming employees. That
admission is not an easy one to make because
I know that we have worked very hard in the
last number of months to identify these key
pieces.

I do know that we have made strides at the
community level and with my colleague and
her executive team, but there is, admittedly,
more work to be done in this, Mr. Chairman.
Unless my colleague has additional
comments, that would be my response.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Ms. Hunt.

Ms. Hunt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I’1l
make this brief. To just layer in to the
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Member’s question and also the response
from my colleague, I think there are two
important things to highlight here. When we
think about the Child Abuse and Neglect
Response Agreement and we have talked at
great length today, the most important thing
we do is stabilize human resources at the
community level so that there is a continuity
of staff, that there is an understanding of
relationship and nuance of community.

What has taken place to date is that we do
have our executive teams engage in regular
cycles of conversation around the agreement.
We have also, as part of Health’s RFP for our
nursing orientation, ensured that the Child
Abuse and Neglect Response Agreement is
part of the orientation and training package.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I’m really curious to know how many
communities actually have well-established
and well-used networks within the
communities to help the frontline staff
address child protection issues. I know it
could be really difficult to answer that
because we know that it’s a living thing,
right? Sometimes you have an employee,
sometimes you don’t, then you have one, and
then you don’t.

I just would like to get a clearer
understanding of whether or not... . Perhaps
this might make it easier: are there any
communities that really stand out to Health
as well as Family Services in terms of being
really successful at addressing child
protection issues and, if there are, why do
they stand out? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

155



Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
can’t honestly sit here and tell you which
communities have excellent collaboration
happening at the community level; I
apologize.

I do know that many of our frontline social
workers and many of the community level
health provision folks inherently must work
together, but I also recognize that facility
plays a big role in terms of how they work
together. Mr. Chairman, there are some
communities where, for example, we have
social workers that are working in the health
centre and there are turf wars over whose
computer and these kinds of things. As we
identify these issues as barriers to a healthy,
collaborative relationship, we need to address
them.

I would say that it’s early days in defining
and measuring where the successful points
are and why they’re successful, but a lot of it
will, I think, require that we’re ensuring that
this agreement is being shared, that the
expectation is being shared, that there is
access to training and other resources to
ensure that the agreement can be fully
implemented, as [ mentioned earlier. Quite
frankly, I would be very happy to share the
success of how we can do this together,
recognizing that it must be done better.

I apologize that I don’t have clarity of
answer. I think that if I did consult with my
community level teams, I could provide that
information and I don’t know that I could get
it before the end of this proceeding, Mr.
Chairman, but I could commit to working
with my colleague at Health to bring that
information forward for the Committee’s
consideration before it concludes its
assessment and report. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.
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Chairman: Thank you. I appreciate that and
[ understand the complexity and not to usurp
Ms. Brewster’s question, but maybe just a
list of some of the best practices that are
working and some of the low-hanging fruit,
again I’ll use that term, on some of the
challenges.

At this time, I’ll recognize the clock. We are
on paragraphs 21 through 25 and we will
reconvene tomorrow morning at 9 a.m. with
Ms. Nutarak, with her line of questioning.
Thanks to everyone for what I think was
quite a productive day with some good, open
dialogue and some good questions, and I
appreciate the transparency of the
government officials and I’'m looking
forward to tomorrow’s proceedings. Thank
you.

>>Committee adjourned at 16:57
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